CHELSEA HISTORIC DISTRICT EXTENSION
DESIGNATION REPORT

February 3, 1981

~ City of New York
Edward I. Koch, Mayor

Landmarks Preservation Commission |
Kent L. Barwick, Chair
William J. Conklin, Vice Chairman

Commissioners

Mary Childs Black Charles A. Platt
R. Michael Brown Beverly Moss Spatt
Barbaralee Diamonstein - Anthony M. Tung

Thomas J. Evans Elliot Willensky
Aramina Ferrer :



TENTH AVE.

CHELSEA HISTORIC DISTRICT EXTENSION =

W. 23 5t,

NINTH AVE.

) W 19 5t

PUBLIC HEARING JULY 12,1979

LANDMARKS PRESERVATION COMMISSION

DESIGNATED FEBRUARY 3.,1981

EIGHTH AVF.



Landmarks Preservation Commission

February 3, 1981,'Designation List 139
1P-1088 '

CHELSEA HISTORIC DISTRICT EXTENSION, Borough of Manhattan

BOUNDARIES

The Property bounded by.Ninth Avenue, West 22nd Street, the eastern
curb line of Tenth Avenue, the southern curb line of West 23rd Street,
the eastern property line of 426 West 23rd Street, the northern
property lines of 401-433 West 22nd Street, Ninth Avenuve, the northern
property line of 204 Ninth Avenue, the northern property lines of
315-361 West 22nd Street, the northern and the eastern property lines
of 305-31)1 West 22nd Street, the nothern curb line of West 22nd Street,
West 22nd Street; the eastern and the. southern property lines of 310
West 22nd Street, the southern property lines of 312-350 West 22nd
Street, part of the southern property line of 352-364 West 22nd Street,
the eastern and part of the southern property lines of 186 Ninth Avenue,
the eastern property line of 184 Ninth Avenue, and the eastern. and the
southern property lines of 182 Ninth Avenue; Manhattan.

TESTIMONY AT PUBLTC HEARING

On July 12, 1979, the Landmarks Preservacion Commission held a publie
hearing on the proposed designation of this Extension to the Chelsea
Historic District (Item No. 17). 7The hearing had been duly advertised in
accordance with the provisions of law. Twenty-nine persons spoke in favor
of the proposed designation, and no one spoke against it. The witnesses
favoring designation clearly indicated that there is great support for this
Extension of the Chelsea Historic District from the property owners and the
residents of Chelsea.



INTRODUCTION

The blocks which are being added to the existing Chelséa
Historic District are an integral part of the community planned
and developed by Clement Clarke Moore on his riverside estate,
"Chelsea." These blocks have similar histerical associations
and a similar architectural character, to those within the ex-
isting district. HMany of the residential buildings were built
acecording to similar structural plans and aesthetic standards
for the same builder-developers who,developed other blocks in the
Chelsea area. These houses were constructed under the control of
the same type of covenants and agreements through which Moore
sought and achieved a pleasing variety of stylistic derail within
a harmonicus uniformity of building dimensions, materials, quality
of construction, -and relations of buildings to each other and to
the streetscape. All but a few of the original .residential build-
ings in the Extension area were constructed between 1835 and 1857,
(the exceptions were built in the 1870 s) g

"In 1835 Moore published a map with the title, Map of Property
Belonging to C.C. Moore at Chelsea, which showed the boundaries
and dimensions of the lots into which his estate had been divided,
and the names of the people who had already purchased lots. The
map was evidently intended to serve as a prospectus for possible
buyers. It carried an abbreviated statement of the restrictions
to be imposed on future development: . "Purchasers of Lots on this’
Map will be required to build fire-proof houses of good qualicy:
Those on the Avenue Lots to be Three Stories, and those on the
Cross Streets, Two stories in height: All kinds ef nuisances will
be prohibited. ' S

Deeds written at this time spelled out these requirements. A
deed of 1835 for the conveyance of six lots on the south side of
22nd Street between Eighth and Ninth Avenues, reads as follows
(with punctuations added): '

"Lots shall be improved only with dwelling houses of brick
or stone with fireproof roof, each house at least two
stories high. and at least 25 feet wide, with no alleyway
alongside; at least one house efected before or on May 1,
1836. No stables may be erected, nor buildings for any
kind of manufacturing. Lots must be enclosed with a. gcod
and sufficient fence. Street and sidewalk in front of
lots must be paved; trees must be planted en rhe sidewalk
whenever party of the first part {L.C. Moore) requests,

Any default in restrictions requires payment of $4,000
liquidated damages..." 1 .

. i

The requirements described above, constitured what rmight be called
the "standard covenant" for the Chelsea development. Althouzh de-
tails in subscquent deeds'cnajgcd from time to time, the basic in-
tent remained the same.  An examination of the requiremcats of the

standard covenant raveals nuch about the development of the Chelsea

Exrension. '



In the 1835 covenant quoted above, the buyer of lots is re-~
quired to build at least one house by a specified date. The time
requirement may have been imposed to prevent speculators from keep-
ing their lots vacant indefinitely while waiting for prices of real
estate te rise. In this covenant, the size of the house was alse
prescribed: ar least two stories high and 25 feet wide. In coven-
ants of 1836 for the north side of 22nd Street between Eighth and
Ninth Avenues, the houses were required to be 37% feet wida. Evi-
dently, Moore intended these first houses on 27nd Street to set an
examnle for 1atﬂr owners on the block.

In deads of later years, the house dimepsions changad from twa
to chree and even four stories; the stone specified begame hrown-
stone trim, or an entire cut brownstone [ront; and houses of ‘less
than the width of the scandard (25 feec} lot were permitted.

In some deeds, the purchaser of a lot was called upon to build
a house similar te or at least "not inferiov to"” a house already
built on the same block or elsewhere in Chelsea. A covenant of
1846 specified that the house to be erected must be "equal in qual-
ity, style and external appearance to those lately erected by
Abisha Smith on the...Southwesterly side of 22nd Screet becween
Eighth and Ninth Avenues.'" A éovenant of 1854 stipulated that che
house was to have a "brownstone basement' and "not be inferior in
qualicy, style and external appearance to tha houses now being
furnished to William H. Smith on...23rd Streat.'” 1In a deed of
1856 for lots on 22nd Stcreec, the directions were even more speci-
fic. The houses built thereon must have "brown cut stone crimmings
and brown cur stone fronts to the cellar and bascment scories,'
and '"'nctto be inferior in style, quality and external appearance
to the houses now being evrected by William B. Dixon..." Through
such requirements, consistency of qualicy of design could be main-
tained. The requirement that only "dwelling houses’ be built was
a coenstant in deeds for the side street propercies but was modified
to permit stores on the avenues. The requivement that each house
fullvy occupy the width of the lot, with neo allevway alongside, was
anothar constant in the deeds. This may have been intended to
reinforce the prohibitvion of stables or it may have been intended
to increse safety by restricting access to the interior of the
block. It would also have served to discourage the construction of
rear houses that might evade the higher constructien standavds for
streztfront houses, permitc low-income Ffamilies, and increase popula-
tion density. Some builders circumvented this restriction by build-
ing a passageway -- a long hall from the front to the hack of che
house (sometimes referred to as a "horsewalk') cthrough the building
itself. One such survives at 331 Wesc 20ch Street in a house built
in 1846, As a result scme of the later covenancs prohibited ‘alley-
wavs and also any "passageway within the side walls... to ceommuni-
cate from the street to the yard other than the ordinary halls or
entrizs..."

There ware no stated restricrions In the dedds on the dopehn
of he houses, bu denth seems to have boaan coatrolied by ghe nead
for infervior davlight, On these celatively navreow logs, wich no
side onening pornivced, o house more chan chie uswal forew oo {Lfey
feer deep would have had lictle daylighs o s dnvaerior reoms,
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In 1834 Moore had made an agreement with the buyers of lors
on 20th and 21st Streets within the Chelsea Historic Districe,
opposite the Seminary block, te provide ten-foot setbacks. These
setbacks were intended.to extend ‘the!park-like vista of the Semin-
ary grounds. In 1835, Moors entered ! into an agreement with.the
purchasers of property on West 22nd Street begweepn Eighrh and '
Ninth Avenue that. thev "maintain an dpeq‘space or court and nat
build beyond a line five feet from and parallel teo 22nd Screert,
except for such necessary entrance steps, platforms and iron

fonecze and vailings teencloss the =amel’  In an L¥5SS converant,
Moore required an eight-~foot setback on the norch side of 22ad
Street batween Ninth and Tenth Avenues. For reéasens not now under-

stood, no setback was required on West Zﬁrd Street, although the
houses were constructed with one.

The EELbuC (s and courts required jhy Meore s covenants also
required the City's approval. In the_pruceed1nhs of the Board
of Aldermen, one finds entriesisuch_aﬁ the following:

On the application of Joseph Tuckkr and others, asking

permission to enclose with an iron railing, and the

necessary stone coping, so much of 22ad Street between

the Eighth and Ninth Avenues as lles between the area

line and the house line of the sald 22nd Sereer, on ’

both sides theraof, ' '

Resolved that it is expedient to grant the prayer of
‘the petitioners; and that the same is hereby granted,
~under the divection of . the Street Commlselonurs.

Adopted by the Board of Ald rmen, September 7, 1835 -
Adopted by the Board of Assistants, December 28, 1835
Approved by the Mayor, December 30 1835 (Proceedings

" of the Board of Aldermen. Vol. III Mav 19, 1835 to
May 23, 1836) -

Many of the open spaces or courts CrtJCLd by the covenants are
still cultivated as gardens, some with trees and shrubs (espec;ally
in the 400 block of West 21st Street), and they continue to contri-
bute to the special charm of Chelsea ;tﬂcets. .

Although 'in his covenants, Moore could require the planting of
sidewalk trees, it is unclear teo what e<tenc this was carried out.
~What is certain is that by the present erathhreuere not many, if
any, trees still in place. The trees now lining the 27nd Street
blocks have. been for the most parc planted by the present-day
block associations.

]

Moore instituted a requirement in sdm2 deeds chat purchasers

of lors pave the adjoining street, "to ths middic line' as well as
the sidewalk, but nothing was sald abouc what such paving should
consist of. Presumably there were soms establivhed standavds to
gulide the builders. This is suggested in the wording of a laase’
written in 1864 which states that the pavingbe dong “in sufficient

and proper manner as toe Mavor, Aldevmen and Cozmonnlicy of che
. : ' | '
1
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City of New York shall from time te time order.'' Another lease
speaks of paving the streets "as required by law.” Specifics of
the legal raquirements have not vet been found. '

The prohibition in the standard covenant of 1835 of “anv
building for any kind of manufacturing,'” becamz elaboraced and
more specific in later years, perhaps as a reaction to new kinds
of undesirable business and industries in areas near Chelsen.
The covenant included in a deed of 1846 requires the buver
act Lol

erect or cause Lo bhe erected any livery stable, slaughter
house, tallow chandlery smith shep, forge, furnace, brass
foundryv, nail or other iron factory or for making of glue,
varnish, vitriol, ink or turpentine, or for the making or
baking of any kind of earthenware, or for tanning, dres-
sing, preparing, or keeping of skins, hides, or leather,
or for the carrying thereon of any kind of manufacturing
trade or business whatever.
A covenant of 1852 adds to this list of prohibicved uses “huccher
meat shop," brewery, distillery, "sugar baker” or "Steam Engine"
and concludes with "any kind of manufacturing, trade or business
whatever which may in any ways he noxious to the neighboring inhabi-

tants."” Srill later, the covenant might prohibit the use of a
building for-"what is generally termed a community or tenament
house.” The condition that default in the ohServance of the re-

strictions would be subject to a money penalty appeared in all the
Chelsed deeds but whether any fines were ever actually levied by
Moore we do not know. From what we can ocbserve of the surviving

"buildings, all the builders complied wich the standards Moore set

for them, and it was cthrough adherence to these standards that the
Chelsea Extension attained its architectural cohevence and harmon-
ious character.



ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

The first buillding to be erected in what is nov the Chelsea
Historie District Extension was the present MNo. 337 West 22nd
" Streer, built for Joseph .Tucker in Greek Revival style in 1836.
One of the last buildings to be bullt during the initial pariod
of development, was the four-unit row of dwellings in Freach
Second Empire style at 305-311 West 22nd Street which waere built
in 1873 for Judge John H. McCunn. The 38 year period, during
which the area was devoloped, covered. the span of popularity of
several distinct- architectural styles~- Grzex Revival, Tralianate,
Angle-Italianate, neo-Crec, and Trench Second Empire. All of
these styles are represented in the ﬁ#strictf chere are as well,
a handsome neo-Gothic church, and Arvc-Deco diner, and a modern
high-rise aparcment building. o

We do not koow what the Tucker, ﬁrant, and Ludlum housas of

1836 looked like originally, because,ralthough still standing,

they have been drastically altered. The Inman house of 1836 no
longer exists, having been razed in, 1896 to make way for S5t. Paul's
Lutheran Church. These earliest houses were all thirty-seven~-and-
one-half feet wide as required by Clement Clarke Moore, owner and
developer of the property, and it is qulte possible that they may
have had more elaborate detailing as befitted important houses.
Certainly, none of the remaining Greek' Revival houses in the
Extension are as -elegant or as impressive as those of the famous
Cushman Row in the Chelsea Historic Distric builr in 1839-40 on
the south side of West 20th Street between Minth and Tenth Avenues.

The prevailing Greek Revival design in the Chelsea Historic
District Extensicn is.-well portrayed b? Nos. 3213, 325, and 343
West 22nd Street on the north side of Tthe block. Miraculously,
these three houses have been preserved in almost every original
detail including their stoops and ironwork. They express the
essence of good city rowhouses in Greek Revival style. On the
south side of the block, the large and'imposing house at No. 318
has very fine original Creek Revival 1r0nuork and railings as does
the house at 326 stt 22nd Street. !_ -

In the mid-1850s, the development of the block bounded by
West 22nd and West 23rd Streets, and by Ninth and Tenth Avenues,
introduced, simutaneously, the Italianate and the anglo-lcalianate
styles. This was a unique situation; a block-leng vow of very
grand Italianate mansions on the South‘sxdc of West 23rd Streetr
backed up to a whole block-front of. Anﬂlo Italianate rowhouses on

" West 22nd Street. These buildings ,erg all in the block next to

the home of ClementClarke Moore and ho was verv .concerned that his

N ] .
requirements as o deslgn, materials and appearance were meticu-
lously carried out. :

The 23rd Street wmansions were as [line a3 any in-the ciey at
L X

that time, and the bleck was known as "Millienaire's Row.'" These

magnificent brownstone houses with ivigl LoLoopE, 2laborate entrances,

cast-iron balconics, and wide bracketed, cernices wvere high-style
Iralianate as interpreted by flaw York desieneey aad builders.
[
-3- |



It was most unfortunatc that the stcops of all these houses.were
removed in 1929, under a plan to widen 23rd Street which was never
carried out. Evan without the stoops, the row is imposing, and the
broad sweep of che facades and the continuous cornice line has a
monumental effect. The house at 448 Wesc 23rd Screet, complete in
every decail, except for the stoop and the iron balcony, gives a
very good idea of the original appearance of the other buildings

in che block. Some other fine Italianate houses with much eorigi-
nal detailing intact are Nos. 452, 454, and 464 West 23rd Streer.

The long blockfronc on the north side of Wesy Ziwd Strace
between Ninch and Tenth Avanues, completely developed hetween 1854
and 1857, may well be one of the only rows left in the city which
preserves an almost unbroken stretch of dwellings in Angle-Tealian-
ace style. While they are narrower and more modest than the 23rd
street mansions, tha repetiction of design elemencs -- low stoops,
rusticated basement [acades, arched window and door openings,
identical lintels and bhracketed cornices -- presents the houses as
an integrated rerrace of scyle and dignicy. Clement Clarke Moore's
taste is responsible for the ultimate dasign of the houses and his
requirement that each house have an eight-foor "court™ in the
Eront, has further unified che composition.

In a few instances, Italianate stvle houses.which have {(or had)
high steops appear on the block. No. 443-4453, a wide seven-story
brick bueilding built in 1929, replaces two Angle-ltalianate houses
which datedfrom 1854. 1In recenc years many of the houses were
curned inteo rooming houses. WNow, vacant and awaiting renovation,
these buildings are part of a plan vo revicalize much of the block-
front, and theiv facades are to be restored quite closely to the
aoriginal appearance. .

No. 411, at che beginning of the row is fexcept for the fire
escape) an excellent Anglo-Italianace building wich original de-
tailing in good condition. It once had twe identical neighbors
at Nos. 407 and 409 which were demolished in 1974. Nos. 451 and
453 with paived vindows capped by elaborate cast-iron lintels are
an unusual vaviant on the Angleo-Italianate theme and are novt dupli-
cated in the District. The house ac 481 West 2Ind Street is an
excellent example of an Anglo-Iltalianate rowheouse in original con-
dition in all respects, even te the cast-ivon fejice and stoop
railings, and it may well be regarded as the prototype for the row,

By the late 1860's, most of tie land in the Chelsea Historic
District Extension had been built upon and, therefore, buildings
in neo-Cree and Second Empire stvles are not numerous, although
these styles somerimesappear as additions to earlier buildings,
especially in added [leors or in raplacaed cornices, A pood exanple
of this is ¥o. 314 West 22nd Streer whare a Greek Revival house of
1842 has had all decails of the {acade alcered to neo-Creow.  The
house at 363 Wext 22nd Street was buille in L7 La neo-Gree seyle
and, although che windows have been alterad, the building revnins
its neo-Grag front Joors ond an especialle guad neo-Grec cornice,
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Nos. 351 and 353 West 22nd Screec builc in 1874, are transitional,
having window enframements and balustraded stoop railings in Iral-
ianate style, while che front deors and the cornices are definicely
neo-Grec. :
1 . .

The only buildings in the Extension te have been builc entire-
ly in Second Empire style, are the Eoﬁr rowhouses at 305-311 West
22nd Street, now combined into one building. It was originally
four narrow, two-bay houses with shared parcy walls. Rising above
a deep hasement are three scories of brick plus a mansard-roof
Fourth stury covered with imbricarad slates of hexagonal design
with dormer windows which have segmental-arched cops. The stoops
and parlor floor entrances have been removed bur the extra-wide
paired windows of the first floor indicate their original location.
The house at 318 Wesc 22nd Street, built in 1841, sports an exuber-
ant fourth floor added later in Second Empire scyle.

J : .

Much later in time, and occupying sites cleared specifically
for their construction, are St. Paul's ;Lutheran Church, of 1897,
a beauriful example of a small church in neo~-Gotlhiic style; the
handsomely detailed white brick apartmént building at 334 West
22nd Street, built in 1918; the screamlined Art-Deco "Empire
Diner"” of 1930 which replaced an Anglo-Italianace rowhouse at
493 West 22nd Street; and the modern whicte brick high-rise London
Towne House apartment building built im 1963-64 on the southeast
corner of West 22nd Street and Nintch .Avenue.

WEST 22ND STREET BETWEEM EIGHTH AND NINTH AVENUES

Houses were built on this block between 1836 and 1874, with-

in five short periods of construction. ‘Seven houses were built

in 1836-37, bv Randolph Branc, Henry Inman, Micholas Ludlam,

Robert B. Ruggles, Abisha Smith, Bezaleel F. Smith, and Joseph
Tucker, in accordance with Moore's restrictive covenants regard-
ing building-width and setbacks. In the wears 1841-43, 20 houses
were built, all in Creek Revival stvle, ‘and these houses give the
block its greatest distinction. By 1841, Moore had released -the
property owners from the 25-foot width requirements of the original
covanents and permitted cthem to divide the remaining parcels intoe
narrower lots. On the south side a parcel 125 fect by 98 feet 9
inches, was divided into lots of 20 to 21 feet in width, while on
the north side, che remaining lots were 22 feet wide. Five houses,
“built between 1845 and 1849, campleced che development of rhe south
side. On the north side, seven houses wére constructed betwean
1850 and 1853; bLy.that time, this block of 22nd Street was known as
Lenox Place, a situation which prevailed'until 1874. Finally, in
1872-74, a group of Iltalianate and French Second Empire, houses andone
neo-Grec house were constructed on the rorth side of the block.
These were the last of the original houses te ba bhuilt in'the arean

encompassed by both rhe Chelsan HistorichiscrLCC and the Extension.
[t is inceresting to note thit the four houses (Nos. 355-301) buei d

in 1872 for Charles Huber were all odlginally censtructed as cultiple
dweliings wich an elQ;n‘ﬁn:crlt anoeach {[f‘ﬂI{‘ Fech apnrtment od oa
store sink avcd o bilokutove-aroh Lo cha Ricchon sl cach hoose had a

dumbuwvaicer fo serve tha anartmoents. !
i
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th Side Berween Eivhel and Ninch Avanues

West 22nd 5creer darth

No. 305-311. This large brick pullding

iudgze Johr B, McCunn, who plaved an impertan:

e tevret, side of tivis bioeh of West 2dud 5L

other prapercie: In Chelsea, including No. 411 Wos

He was o Laviver associnted with Tavman: Jlall il was e A

City Tudie din 1860 with Famminy backine, Durins the Civil Wy,

ha rocrnired the 37th Regiment ol New Yorr Volunteers and sorve

= vt wl e Thew imept: kor sallanity in goliae s £
HilT., he woe given che hoporary rank at Gric R ict . o g
to be court=mactialed for malkine disreapect il reotks a i

commanding of ficer, he avoided trial by resicnine.  Ceneral
arder prohibicing McCunn Trom ever

MeClellan then issued a general
gain untering che arnv's lines. Once more,with Tammany backing,
MeUunn was cleoted Tudws of the Superior Court in 1864, and was
reelected Lo 1870. In 16872,
State Senate for "maleonduct and malfeasance’ in.olrfice. A Tew
he died at his home on West 2lst.street of pneumonin

e was removen fraan africe =v the

days later,
brought onr bv the stress of a leny and painful trial.

[n his obituavy (New York Times, July 7, 1872) it was said
that "In person, Mr. MeCunn was agrecable and pepular with the
roucher ¢lasses of soclietyv, heing alwavs anxious
favorable te him. As a prlitician, he was mistrusted

te keep them
even hy those

with whom he labored.

Prior to construction, No. 305-11 was thesite of a pgarden.
The present building originally consisted of four hbuses, ecach 15
feet in width. The original arrangement of the units can be detoer-
mined by an examination or the basement facade which shows cach
house to have had an entrance and a window. Thus the paired main
entrances with stoops woere over the existing paired basement entran-
ces and the present cxtra-large windows were formerly parlovr [loor
entrances. Designed in the French Second Empire stvle, the building
was unique for Chelsea, since most Second Empire features appeared

as alterations to much older buildings. The slate covered mansard

roof with its eight segmental-arched dormer windbws is original, as
are all openings in the brick facade.

No. 313-315 is the terman Evangelical-Lucheéran Church ol Saint
Paul, organized in 1841]. [ts First church building was located on
the southeast corner of 15th Street and Sixth Avenue. A sccond,
larger church was built on the same site in 1360. Alter the Sisth
Avenue El1 was built, the congregation was disturbed because ity
services were interrupted by the noise of passing trains, and after
an unsuccessful effort te get the City to stop or at least reduc
Sunday merning train tralffic, the congregation decided to sell th
church and lot and move te the gquietude of West 22pd Screot. Th

Tl 4. 1897, ard

2

L iv]

L 5
cornerstone of the new hisildine was laid on iy
chureh was consecrated an Uebhruare 13, 18498,
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In its lifetime of nearly one-hundred and tovty  wears the
church has fhad only four pascors - an indicavion of g grabilicy,
Servieces are scill conducted n German and the conurounnian comes
from throughont the Ciryv and soburbs.  The arehitoeas far chis
neo~Cothic edifice was trancis A, Minuth, born {5 wascern vermany
and a fFeiend of Dr. Koniy, ctihwn the pastor of St. faul's. Minuzh
had establishied his New York Cicy praccice in 1387, accerding te
husiness directorics of the period. ’

The site of the churdin has &0 Antoroozin 3 :
purchased in L8353, a2 three iotse From Cloment Clark Moore by
rhe prominent Hudson River School arcist, Henry Inman. Iavan
Lived onty 45 years (1801-1846), but he was Famoux in his own
time and has left to posterity many superh landscapes and fine
portraits of well known persons of the early vears of chy 1Y¢h
century. e was requirved by Moore o build, o 37 foor wide
house, which he Jdid.  Toman nmust bave cegarded ;chis house as an
lovesoment opportunicy for he never bived in i¢.  Fhen the house
was compleced, he sold it co Edward $. Judson and hig wife, Joane,
making a profic of 54,300. The Tnman house stood for somg 6
years until it was demolished to clear a site for the erection of

S¢. Paul's Church.

tLdzriary, I'r s

I
P

St., Paul's Lutheran Church is a very impressive strucrure for
a small-scale ecity church. Its neo-Gothic fagcade of dressed lime-
gtone manages co include the same features which wmight be found in
o omuch larger church without any loss of heauty or dignicy. The.
Front is divided intu three sections; a wide one in the cenrer, and
a naveow one on either side. Each of these three sections contains
an entrance scaled teo the size of the section. FEach entrance is
topped by a stained plass window and each door and window ave with=
in o poinced-areh svone gable decorated hy a treroil within a cirele
and havinw » svone tinial ac the top. The central seccion ahove
the main entrance rises to a high peaked gable and contains o large
stained glass rose window within a poioted-aveh frame wich o carved
stone drip-moulding Featuriny, stone corbel drops, crackets, and 2
Four-tier finial at cthe vop. The two side scctions rise to hecome
towers with stained glass lancet windows and copper-roofed spires;
the eastern one being considerably caller. The eastern side of
thie ehureh is visible from the strect. Te is bullt of beick and
has three Cievs of windows. An excvemely bhandsome iron fenze witch
pointad-areh Cothic panels and square limestOne posts encleses the
ot in front of che church,

Nos. 317-321. These are chree brick buildings remaining of
four originally built for Judge John B, McCunn in 1852-53. The
Fourth house was demolished in 1897 when Sc. Paul’s Cerman Fvangel-
fcal-Lueheran Church was buile. - Cagh of chem have four sgories

aed A baxement.  Nos. 317 and 39 were complatels cemndelted in
PO ed 1900 prempecn - le o mnd reeadn none o Shedr ericinn! Je-
tatl<,  Noo BEY owheh o bLs sieoue e URRTI TR S
i wlwar e beea of i wrieinad appenirnnce op G " e

Choreh gl brigh o sgone stoen o= been e ool e et
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In its lifetime of nearly one-hundred and reroy wears the
chureh has had enlv Four pastors - an indication ol ft= starilive.
Soervices are still condocted o German and che conerecatioe comos
from throughoue che Ciry and snburbhs.  The arehitoet for chis

neo-Cothie edilice was trancis A, Minuti, born in easrcers dermany
and a friend ol Dr. K:';l‘.llj_:‘ tien the pastor of Sc. Paul's. Minuzh
had established his New Yorl City practice in 1887, acceordine o
business directorics of the period,

{ BN Chun el twas & I0ES

The sile o
purchased in 1823, 2= threo
the prominent Hudson River School artist, tenrw Ioman. Loman
lived only 45 vears (1801-1846), but he was Famous in hils own

time and has lelt to posterity many superh landscapes and [ine

lesew From Clement Clark lMeoroe b

portraits of well known persons of the early vears of the 19th
century. He was requived by Moore te build a 37 foor wide
house, which he did.  [nman must have cegavded ;ehis house as an
investment opportunity for he never lived in it. When the housu
was completed, he seold it teo Edward S. .Judson and his wife, Jane,
making a profit of 54,300. The Inman house stood tor some 60)
years until it was demolished to clear a site for the erection of

St. Paul's Chureh.

St. Paul's Lutheran Church s a very impressive structure for
a small-scale city church. Its neo-Gothic facade of dressed lime-
stone manages to include the same features which might be found in
a much larger church wichout anv loss of beauty or dignity. The.
front is divided into three seéctions; a wide one in the center, and
a narrow one on either side. Each of these threv sections contains
an entrance scaled to the size of the section. Each entrance is
topped by a stained plass window and each door and window are with-
in a pointed-avch stone gable decorated hy a treroil within a cirele
and havins a stone finial at the top. The cuntral sccrion above
the main entrance rises to a high peaked gable and contains a larpe
stained glass rose window within a pointed-arch frame with a carved
stone drip-moulding Teaturing stone corbel drops, crocrets, and a
four-tier finial at the vep. The two side scctions rise to become
tovers with stained glass lancet windows and copper-roofed spires;
the eastern one being considerably taller. The eastern side of
the chureh is visible from the street. It is built of brighk and
has three tiers of windows. An extremely handsame iron fence wich
pointed-arch Gothic panels and square limestone posts encloses the
Inot in front of cthe church.

Nos. 317-321. These are three brick buildings remaining of
Four nriginnl]yfhuilt For Judge John B. McCunn in 1852-53. The
fourth house was demolished in 1897 when St. Paul's Cerman Bvangel-

ical-Lutheran Church was built. Each of them have four stories

b and 318 wore completely romede ]l Tol in

ol A hasemente,  Nos, 317






Nos. 323-333. These six lots were purchasee from Clemane C.
Moore by MNicheolas Ludlam and his wife Sarahk in 1835. Moore re-
quired the Ludlams te build a house on the property that was
37'; feet wide, on or before Mav 1, 1836. Thew et thix require-
ment Ly hYuilding che lousc wiich is pow Mo, 332 Lest 2000 Streog.
In 1843, Moor2 allowed the Ludlams te divide tihe remainine land

e

into five 22% foot wide lots subject to all of the other verms

of the original covenant.

b5 L, muwada Bp THLW Wadd o We @8RG Lnlhe and R
huailt in 1846, was the chind erscted oo Lhe Ludlanm lots.
are ot identical desig:, with Brick Facades abve browistone

bagements, retaining their original dentilled cornices, Greek
Revival entrances, high brownstone stoops, and original iren
railings. Both are fine examples of relatively modest city
dwellings ia Oreek fovival sryle. No. 323 ka: a fourth floor
studio set back somewhat from the plane of the [acade which was
added in 1926. No. 325 passed through many hands wentil March 3,
1880, when it was bought by William Floyd Cushtman, a surgeon at
Bellevue Hospital, as a wedding present for his hride, Mary
Elizabeth Petter Cushman, a distant cousin. Dr. Cushman was the
youngest son of Don Alonzo Cushman who developed many properties
in the Chelsea area, including the Ffamous Cushman Row on West 20th
Street (described irn the Chelsea Historic District Designation
Report (LP-0666), September 15, 1970). The Cushmans and their
descendants owned and occupied the house until 1976 - a total of

96 years in one Family.

Nos. 327 and 329 were buillt together in 1851 as twe iduntical
houses. Theyv are brick and brownstone, three bays in widch, with
four stories and a basement. The ground-floor entrances with
low brownstone stoops retain their original cast-iron railings.
These buildings were remodeled in 1939 when the entrances werc
were removed. No., 327 was built for

changed and the cornices
Alonson Cook, aprinter, and Mo. 329 was built {er Alfred Moore, a

“"marble Manufacturer.'

No. 331 is a three-story brick building with brovns tone basement
built in 1850. The windows are now one-over-one and the mainentrance
has been lowered from the parlor floor te the hasement. The brownstone
window lintels of the second and third floors retain their molded
drip-caps. The Italianate style cornice, supported by a continuous
row of identical brackets, is original to the house as is the cast-

iron area railing.

No. 333 1is the first building constructed by Nicholas Ludlam in
836, as a condition of the property sale by Moore. However, it has
El

complece Iy altered that nathing remains of the wvriginal

£
cont inues the low=

S0
but its height of four stories plus hasene:
| - o Ao

]
rise scale of tiw hlock, Thls unusual ly wide
5L i

a0 Mmasysian I fbs pine.






No. 337. In 1835, Joseph Tucker and his wir wlla, pur-
ETe O —

the huild-

2, [sa

T
&
[ Y

chased six lots from Clement C. Moore under
plete a 37% foot wide house within one vear.

ing that is tow No. 337 Wese 22nd Street in 1235, Tucker's mansion
daed ioined that ot the Ludlams, alse bailt in 1835, Since Tucker was

descerihed as a mason and builder, it is possibla that he built both
No. 333 for the Ludlams and No. 337 for himsclf and that they were

1 A

identical in design. These two mansions, side by side, were a

- - R InAT
oMb ly dloeled L 4YVTL

most impressive beginning for the development of the north side
= ; .

; pe Black. Mo i was
longer retains any of itz ariginal details.

Nos. 341-345. These three houses were all built in Oreek
Revival style in 1841, probably fFor Jospeh Tucker or under his
341 remained in the Tucker family uneil 1909.

ompleted. No.

direction. No.
Nos. 343 and 345 were 3nld as soon as they were c
343 best retains the original appearance of the group. [t bas
a brick facade with a brownstone bhasement and stoop with originnl
iron railings. The original entrance with glass sidelights, tran-
som, and brownstone enframement also survives. The windows con-
tain six-over-nine, six-over-six, and three-over-three sashes.

The cornice with heavy modillion blocks is original. The drain
pipe leading downward at the west side of the facade indicates
that the front portion of the roof still slopes toward the
street. The roofs of the houses on either side have heen raiscd
to a full fourth floor by the removal of the original cornice and
the addition of new brick parapets. These houses have also had

their stoops removed and the entrances dropped to basement level.

Nos. 347 and 349, were both erected in 1841, in Greek Revival
style on two of the lots which Joseph Tucker beught in 1835. The
owner af No. 347 at the time of construction was Asher Rilev, a
builder, who was still living in the house ten vears later in 1851.
The original owners of No. 349 were brothers named Tillinghast and
Of these two houses, No. 349 has had only slight
347 has bheen greatly changed. No. 349, a

Joseph Tompkins.
alterations, while No.
brick and browmstone house, is three stories high with a basement.
The CGreek Revival entrance enframement survives, althouch the door
with its large pane of plate glass is a later replacement. The

brownstone stoop has fine iron railings with decorative ivon urns
All windows now have one-over-che sashes and the

atop the newels.
Aeeain
e 11y

sheet metal cornice appears to be of somewhat later date.
the presence of a downspout on the front of the bhuilding indicates
that the original roof line has not been changed. No. 347 has

its original stoop and entrance which are identical to those at
Y¥o. 349, but a fourth floor has been added and a fire escape ob-

scures the facade.

ho. 351-3673. In 1843, the Chelssena Preshvterian Church was
s an doand in 184 v, ow hreiek clyered oed Do s semeet o %L an
prasirmea e phe abow pf ovhot D omow e, 3 and smatmb]s
N B3 Sawap A0l smme e Wi R t :
i Wi i !




No. 357. The minister of the new church and much of its congrepa-
tion came from a recently disbanded church in Creenwich Village,

In the indentutre conveying these lots, Moore added to his usual
covenant the stipulation that the buyers should not parmit "any
vaults for the internment of dead bodies nor graves to be erected.'
[n 1859, Moore leased to the church, for a term of 21 years,
beginning retroactively in 1849, lots on either side of the church
property, now No. 351-333 on the east and No. 363 on the wast.
Presumably, these were kept vacant (along with Nos. 361, 359 and
part of 257) as lawns or gardens. On the expiration of the lease

Maci jad the ledse [ov

in L1870, Moure's heivess Maric T.D.
the twe marginal lots for another 21 years, but with an increase [
of rent from $125 to $480. This wus evidantly more than the chuvch
could raise, for in the following vear Maria Moore leased the two
lots "recovered from the Preshyterian Church for non-payment of
rent" to James Condie, a local druggist whose drugstore was adja-
cent to Ne. 363, at the corner of 22nd Stcreet and Ninth Avenue.

Two months later, the church property was sold to Elias Kalhn who
then sold it to Charles Huber. Huber built the present houses in
1872 and Condie built Nos. 351-353 and No. 363 in 1874,

Manre ., rens

Nos. 351-353. These mirror-image houses of brownstone have
matching entrances with three large neo-Crec brackets supporting the
common lintel. The handsome panelled wooden doors fit into round-
arched openings which feature small keystonces with neo-Grec decora-
tion. Twin stoops having heavy iron railings and balusters descend
to the street where the cast-iron newel post-is a lion holding a
shield. These railings are in the earlier Italianate style as are
the short sections of cast-iron fence at the areas on either side.
The windows of the first three floors have complete enframements
of stone with projecting drip caps on the lintels and small brackets
beneath the sills. The basement windows have eipht-over-eight
sashes and the others may have been siz-over-six although it is
more likely that they were either twWo-gver-two or ona-over-one,
Certainly, the existing nine-over-nine sashes arve the result of
later attempt to "Colonialize" the facade. The continuous neo-
Crec cornice is supported by seven heavy hracrets with fielded
panels between them. These houses were buile for. .James Condie in 1874.

Nos. 355-361. These four houses, occupv the site of the former

Chelsea Presbyterian Church (1844-1871), and werg all built in
Italianate style in 1872 for Charles Huber. No. 355, althouth
somewhat altered, shows most clearly the original appearance of
the four buildings. It has a three story plus basement facade of
brownstone. The entrance above the high brownstone stoop and the
windows appear to have had decorative brownstone surrounds which
have been '"'shaved" and resurfaced with plain brownstone stucco.
The Italianate cornice with its four brackets and three panels

is original. This cornice survives on all four buildings. Tha

windows have one-over-one sashes and the ironwork, althouch later
in dace, is quite good. The Ffacades af Soas. 137 and 1589 have boon
gittiraly vesureaced Lo agpdar as bod G

still cetain rheis stome Sooaps amd pat]

minimal fron rallinss are of Tecent
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with an unusual arrangement of glass, having a large square pane in
the center with small panels at the sides and corners, prohahly

circa 1910. The facade of No. 3A1 has been resurfaced wirh Portland
cement stucco. All windows now have six-over-six sashes, and the
parlor floor entrance was replaced by a multi-paned bav window when
the stovop was remaoved. The entrance is now located at basement level.
Nos. 355-361 are early examples of hoitses buile as multiple dwellings.

No. 363, occupies a lot which was a lawn or gardun to the west
of the formsr Chelessz Prashyreriaze Chuorah This lnf woe acaouired
i L8722 on a 21 year lease from saria neoare bw James tondie whogs
drugstore was in the adjacent building at 198 Hinzh Aveaue. 7The

house was bullt tor Condie in 1874. Tt is perkaps the only example
in the Chelsea area of 2 type of neo-Crec hrewnston: dwelling more
commanly seen uptown in the East AD's and 70's.  les anpnlar facade
has a twn=sided projecting hav whieh risas the (0]l hedait of the
building and an entrance bay with 4 high braactons steap and orig-
inal handsome panelled wooden doors with plare glas., in the conter
sections. The fine vriginal cernice has vlonguced neo-firec hrackers
carrying a deep crown moulding with fields between. The bottom
parts of the brackets are decorated with rosettes placed in small
raised panels. The unusual shape of this house may he the result
of the restrictive covenants imposed by Moore on the property.

West "2nd Street, Scuth Side Between Elghth and Nint!l, Avenues

No. 312. This house in Creek Revival style, was huile in 1843~
44 for James Phelan, who also brilt houses o the south “ide of West
22nd Streer hetween Ninth and Tenth Avenues, and (¢ other sercions
of Chelsea, This three-story and bhasencenr brick hofldine retains
its fi-ack Revival stvle entranse with beewnstens stioop gl orlsinal
iron ralliass.  The windews are now all ane-owes=ops but, erizi=ally,
the parlor floor windows would have becn sic-aver-aix. Durting the
latter part of the 19th century, the docr enframement, the window
lintels, and the cornice were updated with stampyd <sheot wetal
fabrications of the period, probably in the 1880s, This house is
owned by tha terman Evangelical-Lutheran Churceh of So. Paul,

(No. 310, which is ourside the districe, sl oo heiie by
tames Phelan, and hefore its recent alceratfon, it wis a rwin te
Now 312%)

No. 314. Although this hous¢ has the appearance of an Italian-
ate style brownstone building of the 1870s or BJs, it was built in
1842 by Daniel Turner, a builder, and was probably as ewart duplicace
of No. 312, This house also has elaborate progssad-cwrdl trir at the
windows ., and the Fact that the sheet metal cornice s the same as at

woo 312, indfcates that both houses were updated ¥ the sare tire.

The stoep has been removed and the eatramee s mow thopnet the hase—
tunt whece the dust is wf paecent dazd.  The hrowmstend” frone is

stucco applied to the hrick facade of the hWatlling
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No. 316. This house was built in 1836 for Robert B, Ruggles, a
goldbeater, with a place of business at 28 Dey Street. Ruggles had
purchased five adjeining lots at Nos. 310-318 from Clement C.
Moore on June 20, 1835. He and his wife, Sarah, resided here until
1852 when they sold the house to Juliaz Ann Jarvis. Most certainly,
this house was originally built in the Greek Ravival style and one
has only to look across the street to No. 343 to find the prototype.
Cornice and stoop are gone and the facade is coated with stucco, but
the six-over-six windows remain. The parlor flocor windows originally
six—over-ninc, have been shrnrtened te siv-over—-six. The attic win-
dows would originallv have beeu Lhtee-cver-thrze. The 2ntrance now
in the basement contains a panellad door in the Queen Anne style with
side lights. This door could be from another house or it could
have been placed in this house in the 1880s and reused when the
entrance was lowered. Note the downspout at the western side of the
facade, which indicates that the roof is still pitched to the front.

No. 318, a brick house in the Greek Revival style, was built
in 1848 for Alfred Martin who was the first occﬁpant. This house
is quite similar to No. 312 which was built in 1843-44. The not-
able brownstone entrance enframement features a wide entablature
supported by fluted pilasters with capitals displaving papyrus
and acanthus leaves. The double doors with the long plate glass
panels are from the turn of the century. The pressed metal cor-
nice is from the same era. The iron stoop and area railings are
original and are in fine condition.

No. 320, is a 25-foot wide house built in 1836 by Randolph
Brant, a mason, who is noted for having been the builder of St.
Peter's Church on West 20th Street. Brant purchased two lots
from Clement C. Moore in 1835, and by the terms of the covenant,
he was required to build a house on one of therm "on or befare
November 1, 1836" or pay the sum of $2,000 as a penalty. The
Brants owned the house until 1862. This building, vecently
remodeled, has lost all semblance of its original design. It was
a three-bay facade, as evidenced by the three cpenings which re-
main in the basement. The four bays of long narrow six-over-six
windows and the brick facing of the upper fleoors-date from the
renovation of the building. The entrance, the concrete coping and

the ironwork are all new.

o
No. 322, is built on the second lot purchased from C.C. Moore

by Ra;aolﬂﬁ_ﬂrant in 1835. He sold the lor in 1846 to William
Menzies a timber dealer, who sold it in 1848 to Alfred Moore, a
"marble manufacturer." The house was built for Moore in 1849, an
extremely early date for a dwelling with an all brownstecne facade,
Undoubtedly, the front was originally of brick and was later
stuccoed and scored to resemble blocks of brownstone. The windows

y e S fp = T |
and stgop have Been dliered

are one-over-one and the entrance
The one eriginal feature which remains is the cornice wirh its

large modillions.
So. 32&. The waier At the tige of dallsteusi fol & 1883, a5

Peter B. Doremus, u bullder. This prick bulldisg was ericginalls




in the Greek Revival style, and it still retains its original
brownstone stoop and fine Greek Revival cast-iron stoop and area
railings. The cap-molded brownstone lintels also remain. The
windows would have been six-over-six and the twleve-over-twelve
sashes now on the parlor floeor and the secerd floor, are pseudo-
"Colonial" replacements which do not belong in a house of 1843.
At some later date (probably in the late 1860s), the house was
updated by the addition of a bracketed Italianate cornice and

a very fine brownstone Italianate door enframement with handsome
nairad, panclled wooden doors. The door enframement featurcs
large acanthus-carved console brackets which support a segmental-
arched door opening which has an acanthus-carved kevstone. This
handsome entrance ensemble survives in excellent condition.

Nos. 326-332. On April 25, 1835, Bezaleel F. Smith, a4 stone
merchant, purchased six luts (Nos. 326-336) from Clement C. Moore
with the usual covenant to build a 25-foot wide house within onc
year. This first house and another (Nos. 334 nnq 336) were demo-
lished in 1917 to make way for the apartment building now at those
numbers. The four houses remaining were all built alike in Creek
Revival style in 1841, but have had some alterations over the years.
Originally, they were all three-story brick houses with brownstone
basements. No 326 has retained its brownstone stoop and door
enframement of wide entablature and plain pilasters with Doric
capitals. The Creek Revival iron railings at the stoop and the
area are coriginal and are excellent examples with large and small
anthemions alternmating atop the palings. The windows are all si=-
over-six and the cap moldings have been shaved from the brownstone
lintels. A slate covered mansard roof was added, perhaps in the
1870s. It has two dormer windows with segmental-arched tops which
add a touch of French SecondEmpire elegance to the house. The
Italianate style double doors replace the original Greek Revival
entrance.

Except for the later Italianate cornice and doors and the recent
two-over-two windows, No. 328 remains intact. The fine iron stoop
railings with the widely curved ends are a type more commonly seen
on Creek Revival houses in Brooklyn Heights .

No. 330, has been stripped of all Greek Revival details and is
much older than it appears to be. The coruice habt been replaced by
a high pluin brick parapet. The brownstone lintels have lost their
cap moulding the windows are one-over-onec, and the stoop was re-
moved to crunte the main entrance through the basement. The Greck
Revival iron railings are gone although the iron guards at the

basement windows are of the period.

Except for the cap moldings missing from the browmstone lintels and

the later froat donrs, No. 15’ appenrs almost exactlvy as it musl
have looked when it was comple A 18 0. B menld well By jeoys
siduered the prototype tor the tow.  The Grcad Fesierl ons i
enframement , swtoop, and iron=weork coe 2l Laopeld es T B

are all sdx=ovep-six ged base Touweged wavogdon et arl R4 LB |
almoest all Bowewrs bt dn 8454, The coe rag golat oy cTulie i

brick facade pieinsed Llad% wiblh ehiite rroi TR i TR B
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the house off to the best advantage, but original brick and brown-
stone remain.

No. 334-336. This six-story white brick apartment building,
built in 1918, occupies the site of two of the six houses built in 1841
by Bezaleel F. Smith. Except for the cornice and the stone en-
framement at the entrance, all of the decorative details of the
building have been beautifully executed by creating panals and
patterns in the same white brick used for the facade. The various
windewe net have 3 zraat varietv ot gcvies and sizes vl zlass pancs
put it appears that, originally, the smaller windows had six-over-
six sashes and the triple windows had faur-over-one sashes in the
sidelights and a mest unusual arrangement of seven panes of glass in
the upper sashes over one pane in the lower sashes. This attrac-
tive building needs only replacement of the correct sashes, where
required, tc be resteored ro its original appearance.

Nos. 338-348. On January 16, 1835, Abisha Smith bhought six
lots, now Nos. 338-348 from Clement C. Moore under the usual re-
quirement to build a 25 foot-wide house within a vear. Smith
was a stone-cutter/mason and dealer in flagstone with a place of
business at 426 Washington Street. He was probablv a brocher of
Bezaleel F. Smith who built Nos. 326-332 in 1841. No. 338, a 25
foot-wide house, was built by Abisha Smith in 1836 to [ulfill the
covenenat requirement of his deed from C.C. Moore. Swmith and his
wife, Lydia Ann, lived here until 1864. Originally it was a Greek
Revival style, three-story brick building with a brownstone base-
ment. -Today the parlor floor entrance has been lowered to the
basement, the molded drip-caps are gone, from the brownstone lin-
tels, although all sashes are correctly six-over-six. The cornice
has been removed and replaced by a plain brick parapet, which is
slightly higher in the center.

With two slight differences, the housecs at Nos. 340 and 348 are the
same design as MNos. 326-332. Both groups were built in 1841; but at
Nos. 340-348, the original parlor floor windows were full length,
extending to the floor,and the Greek Revival iron railings were less
ornate. Floor length windows with period cast-irdn puards at the
bottom are still to be found at No. 344. Originally these long
windows would have had six-over-nine snshes instedd of the one-over-
ones they have today. The parlor floor windows of the other houses
have all been shortened. All the houses have later deouble doors
installed in their entrances and only fouyr revain their original

cornices.

No. 350, was also built in Greck Revival stvle in 1841 and is

exactly like the others. However, its lot was purchased by Abisha

Smich Ffrom Clement Clark Moore on March 9, 18713, aleng with ar least
Ewo gthers ar Nos. 352 and 354. Thesqe twd Houses were deinlished in
1962 in vvder oo make waw for the erectdon PUomid I . e Honge

Apartomenc Patldine.




No. 360. The modern white brick apartment building, at the
southwest corner of West 22nd Street an! Ninth Avenue, known as
the London Towne House, was completed in 1965 from designs by
architect Philip Birnbaum., It has a frontage of 198 feet on West
22nd Street and 98 feet, 9 inches on Ninth Avenue. It consists of
twa sections of unequal height. The eastern section, facing West
22nd Street has twelve stories described in the cfficial document
as eleven stories and basement (i.e. the floor at ground level) |
and the western section facing MNinth Avenue has twelve stories
(eleven, plus basement).

Most of the land on which the London lowne tdouse tuw stands
leased from Clement Clarke Moore in the years 1847 and 1848 by
John H. Martine, a merchant. By 189, Martine had built six
houses on West 22Znd Street and five buildings with street-level
stores on Ninth Avenue. These eleven buildings were demolished
in 1962. Plans for the new building were filed with the Depart-
ment of Buildings in 1962, construction of the London Towne

House was started in 1963, and the Certificate of Occupancy was
issued in 1965. The lot once occupied by No. 352 West 22nd Street
is now a ramp used to enter the garage beneath the London Towne

House.

West 22nd Street, North Side Between Ninth and Tenth Avecnues.

The block bounded by 22nd Street on the south and 23rd on the
north, between Ninth and Tenth Avenues (often called "the 400 bleck')
was the last block of the Chelsea estate to be opened for development
because the Moore family mansion and grounds ''Chezlsea House,'" were
located here at what would now be Nos. 422 and 424 West 23rd Street.
Moore's Cousin, Nathaniel Fish Moore, made an excellent daguerreo-
type photograph of the house which has been reproduced in John A.
Kouwenhoven's The Columbia Historical Portrait of New York (p. 235).
Moore put off the sale of lots here until after his retirement from
teaching at the General Theological Seminary. In 1853 he moved
into a new five-story, double house at the southwest corner of
23rd Street and Ninth Avenue, which he shared wirch his daughter,
Mary. The walls and framework of this building still stand, bur-
ried under the stucco of a recent "renovation". The mansion was
then demolished and the grounds, which are said jho have occupied
a low knoll, were leveled to provide additional landfill for the

edge of the river.

The houses on the block were all built between 1]
and the majority of them were built in twe years, 183
Consequently, they are all of the Italianate or tha cl ly related
Anglo-Italianate stvle and the block, despite later alterations,
presents a greater umiformity of appearance than da

blocks.

other Chelsea

oo =

Houges built in che Lealianate seyle generalls have che
mant Elosr oo, af silighcly below gooend level, with diah stdnps
leading to the elevated parlor floors. In Aaplo-Iltaliadaze houses,

on the other hind, the basenent floor is o




level and these English-basement houses do not have high stoops.
At least thirty-five of the forty original dwellings surviving
on the north side of 22nd Street between Ninth and Tenth Avenues
were built without high stoops in the Anglo-Italianate style.

The houses on 22nd Street are generally narrower than those
built in previous decades. The old 25-foot-wide dimensions were
disregarded (except for two 25-foot wide houses, Nos. 431 and433),
the mest commen 18t widgl e 16 Faat, B dachss,. @ width that allowad

three houses to be built on two standacd lots.

The setback, required in Moore's standard covenant for the
22nd Street blockfront was eight feor, but for seme now unknown
reason no setback was specified for ?3rd Streect.

Speculative builder-developers who bought and built on nore
than one lot were responsible for fifty-six of the sixty-three
original dwellings now standing on the bloek on both 22nd and
23rd Streets. In some instances the investors were themselves
carpenters, masons, or self-styled "builders" who may have actually
taken part in the work of construction. By far the largest builder
was Morgan Pindar who built 24 houses on the block, (Pindar was
forced to 9211 all his property in 1858 to satisfy his creditors.)
Like James N. Wells, Pindar had first becn a carpenter. Five
houses were built for or by William H. Sm'th, a professional
builder; and five for Max S. Schwerin, a :hirt manufacturer. John
Gregory, a tin and copper-smith, James Johnson, a carpenter, and
the ill-fated Judge McCunn, each built four houses. Jaceb Tal lman,
a carpenter, built three houses and another carpenter, Philo V.,
Beebe, built two. Beebe, incidentally, huilt the row of houses on
West 24th Street between Ninth and Tenth Avenues, which are now
designated Mew York City Landmarks. William B. Dixon, a surveyor,
Eduard Bossange, a commission merchant, and Daniel Townsend, a
mason, each built two houses. The rest were built for single
investors, some of whom may have intended the houses for their own
use, or for immediate re-sale. These included tradesmen and crafts-
men (e.g., another mason, two partuers in a plumbing and gas fitting
business, a sash and blind maker, a jeweler), and merchants and
professionals (e.p., a bedding merchant, a timbery dealevr, a pub-
lisher, an editor). The fact that so many of the housoes were
built in groups, at the same time and by the same builder, helps
to account for the relative uniformity of the facades of the block.

No. 401-409. This 1s a vacant site.

Mos. 407-409. Two houses which were oviginally ideniteal toe
No. 411 formerly stood on these lots. Thewv had been built in 1855
for Judge Jeha H. MeCupn who alseo built Nes. 307-311 HWest 20nd Street.
Nos. 407 angd 409 were demulished fn 1975,

Nau Gl b, oo Twgd Pt iR 1855 for Tadee Melanss T
Brlay aad Verowmatogas e T idaa of  soeer Sl brwed g As el 1 @ 4
fes ordgignl T vpee s wWhieh oare ] osreaoreed 0 Thee BV P8 Sl e
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to the facade is the shortening of the parlor floor windows which
had originally been floor-length. The house is in Anglo-Italian-
ate style with a low stoop and a first story facade of rusticated
brownstone. The entrance and the window of the first floor are
round-arched, The brownstone window enframements of the second
and third floors have flar lintels with molded drip-caps while
the windows of the fourth floor are round-arched with keystenes.
The fifth floor windows are lunectes, also with kevstones. The
cornice has four large brackets - omeat either end and two paired
brackets in the center - with fields betwsaen the brackets decor-
ated with ralsed pancle.

Nos. 413 and 415, are narrow four-story two-bay Anglo-ltalian-
ate houses with brownstone stoops, first floor, and brick upper
stories. They were hoth built in 18536 for John Cregory, a tin
and coppersmith, who served as a vestryman at St. Peter's Church.
Oripinally, the [irst floor facades were ructicated, but they
are now covered with stucco. However, the kevstones remain at
the tops of the arched doorwvay and window openings. A projecting
belt course of brownstone separates the area of the Enulish base-
ment from the upper floors of brick. Both buildings have two-over-
two sashes which are correct, if not original. A continuous
sheet metal cornice of recent date with horizontal panels crosses
the facades of both buildings which are presently painted white.
Concrete walls at either side of the stoops taxe the place of
iron railings.

No. 417 is a four-story brick and brownstone building in
Anglo-Italianate style. Twenty feet in width, with three bays,
this house is wider than most others in the row. It was builec
in 1856 for John Gregory who also built Nos. 413 and 415. The
Cregory family owned these three houses well into the early years
of the 20th century. A low stoop of four steps leads Le the
arched entranceway in the rusticated facade of the English base-
ment. To the right of the entrance are twe arched windows with
horizontal panels of brownstone beneath the sills. Above the
brownstone basement are three floors of brick. The sashes at all
windows, present ly six-over-six, are replacements., The wide Ital-
ianate cornice has four large evenly-spaced brackets with horizoen-
tal panels botween them. The facade is not enhanced by a three-
story fire escape, while the iron stoop and area railionps are

!

recent and minimal.

Nos. 419, 421 and 423. These three houses are each 14 feet,

8 inches wide and were all alike when completed in 1856 for
William H. Smith a builder, and Baniel Townsend and John Lane,
masons. Changes have taken place over the vears, particularly
with refererce to the sashes of the windows and the size and
shape of the pancs of glass, even within the same biildine, It

does not appear that the Enslish basement facades of these three

houses wore roasricated. The leow stoops are vhresr steps ahowe
grade, and pows of thes bas any driglaal i« s L | ang
The' bagement ol each bBulldineg has a wide pouad=mrobed Qndrane
with a keystope and & reuad=nrched sindow «<idh o4 orstan ih

entrances of Nas, ALY apd S22 hawe square i Dasters wbeh o crpi tal s




at the spring-line of the arch. No. 421 has the pilasters but the
capitals have been removed. The upper floors of all of the build-
ings are brick. No. 419 retains the original sheet—-metal bracket-
ed cornice in rather peor condition and Nos. 421 and 423 have lost
their original cornices. Each house has a low segmentaly-arched
dormer window. The dormer at No. 421 has been doubled in size

by the addition of another similar window to the wast.

Nos. 425, 427 and 429, were all built alike in Anglo-Italian-
ate style in 1855 by Morgan Pindar, a builder, who bought the three
lots from Clzment C. Moorz in 1854. No. 425 was sold in 1855 to
Mo, 427 and 429 aoparentlv remained

Elizabeth Fomeroy GCiiler.
unsold until September 1859, when thev were both sold at public
auction during the time when Pindar was having financial troubies.

The houses are now much changed. No. 425, more recently
renovated, is perhaps more in the "spirit' of the Italianate
style than the other two, which were rencovated earlier. The {ac-
ade of No. 425 has been resurfaced with brownsrone aggregate
stucco and the English basement facade is lightly scored to re-
semble stone work with simple keystones above the original round-
arched door and window openings. A projecting bandcourse crosses
the facade at the level of the parlor floor. Above it are two
full-length windows which originally were shorter, similar to
those of Nos. 427 and 429. The windows of the two Floors above
were also lengthened enough to allow for the insertion cof air
conditioner units. The sashes which resemble casements fit with-
in the segmental arches of the window epenings. The [talianate
cornice with its console brackets and fielded panels with carv-
ing in high relief is original to the building. The iron fence
and railings are of recent date. Nos. 427 and 429, which were
probably remodeled prior to World War II, have lost rtheir round-
arched door and window openings and belt courses at basement
level. In fact, all openings at No. 427 have been altered to
square heads, although the upper floor windows of Neo. 429 still
have segmental-arches. The multi-paned entrance doors date from
the time of renovation. Sashes are two-over-two and some in No.
429 appear to be original. All decorative detailing has been
removed and both buildings have been resurfaced with Portland

=
cement stucco. However, they still have their original cornices

which repeat the design at Mo. 425.

The writer Sherwood Anderson lived in a fudhished room at No.
427 in 1918. During this period his book of short stories, .
Winesburg, Ohio, was published, and he was writing the novel, Poor
White.

nlock of West
very low stoops.

Nos. 431 and 433. Most of the houses in
22nd Street are in the Anglo-Italianate style
Nos. 431 and 433 are in the more usual Rew York tradition of brown-

stone Italianate houses with high stoops. The original brownstone
stoop remains at dNe. 431 eomplere with the orizinal cost-ivon
Italianate style raillings. The brownstons sioop has hegn removed

at %o. 433 and replaced with an iven staircase leadine up to the

parlor-floor gentrance. Both houses are three-story plus basenment



brownstone dwellings. The basement facades of both houses, (now
painted white) are deeply rusticated at the horizontal joints,
greatly emphasizing the large blocks of brownstone which comprise
the basement wall. The brownstone facade of Ne. 433 huas been
resurfaced with stucco and scored to resemble brownstone blocks.
All window openings in both houses retain their segmental-arches.
It 1s probable thact the original sashes were two-gver-two. No.
431 now hag six~over-six sashes and No. 433 has one-over-ones,
The brownstone entrance enframement at No. 431 is in place but

is widssing its ceornice, while at Ne. 433, evervthing but the arch
surrounding the entrance has veen vemoved. Maither hoyse bhas

its origlnal front doors although both houses retain their orig-
inal roof cornices wirh acanthus-faced conscle brackets., No.

431 was bulle in 1855 fer William S. Fogg., an uphnlsterer, aand
No. 433 was buile in che sam: year for Macy A, French of Brooklyn.

e LB%1, Moo 433 was bought by Ceorpe Yassar, a neplaw of
Matrhow Vassar wha tad Founde? the Uassnf'Cnijvﬁc for Women at
Poughkeensic, New York. Guorss Vassar and hi's wife owned MNo.
433 and tived there until afcer 1915.

Nos. 435-439. . These narrow four-story-plus-basement brown-
stone houses, Nos. 435 to 439 were erected in 1855, and are
basically in the Angle-ltalianate style altheough cheir stoops
are somewhat higher than usuzl)l., Originally, the three bulldings
were all alike. Ticle to these three lots passed from Clement
Clark Mocre to James Jobhnscen, carpenter, in 18353 and 1854, FHow-
ever, by 1855, No. 435 was the property of Reuben Bowler and George
Harris, plumbers and gas fitteras. 1In tha same year Bowler and
Harrls sold it te Marv K. Peck for §510,000. This price indicates
that Mrs. Peck bought the property with a house on it. It is
quite probable that, since James Johnson was a carpeanter, he
built or supervised che building of all chree houses. No. 635
best represents the oripinal appearance of the three,as it retains
the round-arched openings of the first floor, the belt course
above the first floor, the segmental-arched window openings of
the second, third and fourch f¢leoors, and the original cornice
with four console brackets and two long horizontal panels. Al-
though the cornice is missing from No. 439, it compares clusely
with No. 435. However, No. 437 has been drastically alcered,

All windows are now squate headed and have begn greatly reduced
in height as has the main entrance. The facades of all three
houses have been resurfaced. No oripinal sashes remain. 4All
three entrances have been totally altered, and none of the houses
retalns any original ironwork.

No. 441. This brownscoene bullding, with four floors plus
basement asd high brownstone stoop was bullt in Trallanate style
in 1855 by Jamed Johnson and sold the same vear to James M. Motley,
By 1838, the house and lot had been sold a, tovtal of foor gimes)
The facage has been resurfaced with browastone agprogate stugeo,

scored to resemble blocks of brovnstens,  The fact thac the hase-
ment windeows and the entvance boave sepmental-acchaes, woulld indi-
cate that the window openings of all floors - now square headed -

might orviginally have been sormental-arehed alsoe.  The front deors


http://lair.es
http://-arch.ee

|

|

|

.. . : |

could be originals, but all of the sa%hes are later replacements.
Seven air-conditioner units pierce the masonry facade. The hand-
some cornice with three long oval panels and six large carved
console brackets, and the handsome irdnwork, are original.

. , .
Nos. 443-445. The seven-story brick facade of cthis building
daces from 1929 when two three~bay hodses“built‘in 1854-1835 were
combined, altered and raised in.height by the City Federation
Hotel, which was described in the Building Department applica-
tion as a ”Semi~chéritable_organizatidn te provide a place of
residence for young women in modest clreumstamces.’’ The bu 114

ing was later acqulred by the State off New York for use as a
residential treatment center by its Youth Division. It is.
known as the Sheppard Youth Home. The, style of the bulldlng

-is typical of 1929 and it has not been altered. The entire
facade is done in Flemish bond brlckwork and the first two
stories have simulared rusticaction. Awbheet meral cornice crosses
the facade just above the splaved brick lintels of the second
floor-windows. - All windows ave the same size and all contain
six-over-six sashes. Starting at the level of the seventh floor,
the sides of the facade curve inward to reduce the top floor to
four bays instead of six. The brick parapet is topped by a
narrow band of masonry faced with a repetitive mocif of palm-
ettes. The entrance enframement whichiis the major decorative
element of the facade is 'Jacobean™ in;inspiration and design.

- 1

No. 447, This three-bay brownstone house with four stories
plus basement was built ian 1858 in Ttalianare style for Josiah C.
Mott, a jeweller wich an office at 60 Reade Street. The house
had a high brownstone stoop, now removed The main eptrance has
.been lowered to basement level, and the| entrance opening on the
parlor floor has been converted to a layge multi-paned window.
The spalling brownstone facade has been|ch1pped back to a sound
base. The basement facade with deep rustication and the former
parlor floor entrance enframement have been resurfaced with brown-
stone aggregate stucco. The windows haveoﬁe—over one sashes.
The western and the .center windows of tpe fourch floor have been
combined into a large studio window by removing the brownstone
pier between them. The handsome mecal ¢ornice is-original. It
has six console brackets and three decoratlve panels which feature

sea shell motifs. o
. . S
No. 449, a large ltalianate style brownstone dwelling, was |
built in 1854 by Samuel W.C. Clements and John Gilliland, masons.
They sold the house and lot on March 18, 1855 to William Clark
for $10,500. The high brownstone stoop,has been removed and the
main entrance is now through the basemant. A short window takes
the place of the former entrance, - The two parlor floor windows
are floor length and are unusually tall, indicating extremely
high ¢eilings’ on the parlor floor. All 'the wiadows with one-
over-one sashes, have szpgmental arches‘: Small brackets renaln)
at rhe window sills of the second and third fioors. The brown-
stone facade has been prepared tor resuﬁfacing: this has beon
completed on the basement wall and the round arch of the doot
enframement. Above the fourth fleor where the roof corniece had






been 1s a wide,plain tand of stucce. The fifth floor, sheltered
by aslate—covered mansard roof in French -Second Empire style, is
a later addition to the house. Two dormer windows with low tri-
angular pediments and keystones admit light to this "French garret

Nos. 451 and 453. The two lots at Nos. 451 and 453 were
bought from Clement C. Moore by Philo Y. Beebe on November 23,
1853 for $3,000. Beebe, a well-established developer, had built
the row of houses with combined Greek Revival and ILtalianate de-

teile at £37-459 West 24th Street in 1849-1850. His own home
which he completed in 1849, was ar 2 Parvy Street in Greenwich
Village. Later he lived at 220 West 28th Street. Beebe built
Nos. 451 and 452 West 22nd Street in a version of the Anglo-
Italianate style distinctly different from any other to be found
in the Chelsea area. Each house is only 12 feet - 8 inches wide,
but, as they are exactly alike, the two appear as a single build-
ing. This effect is further promoted by the fact that the en-
trances, one step above the sidewalk, are quietly understated,
thus emphasizing the handsome rusticated stone facade of the

It is possible that lintels like those of the

The upper floors are

ground floor.
parlor floor once crowned the entrances.
of brick and have been painted. The effect of greater width

is achieved by the use of only one window copening per floor.
However, each opening contains two narrow windows separated by
a wide mullion and crowned by an elaborate segmental-arched
cast-iron lintel. These lintels are very decorative having

both plain and ornate mouldings, brackets, and keystones as

well as foliate cresting at the parlor floor. The cornice bears
little resemblance to the other decidedly Italianate details of
the building and appears to be a later addition in the neo-

Grec style. ©Nos. 451 and 453 were completed in the year 1854.

Nos. 455-459. Although Clement C. Mecore sold the lots at

455, 457 and 459 West 22nd Street to three different people
on January 1, 1854, in the deeds he required that the houses

be '"not inferior in height, style and external appearence to
the house belonging to James Johnson on the northeastwardly
side of said 22nd Street between the Ninth and Tenth Avenues.
The front thereof to be of brown cut stone.'" The owners were
mason, John Lane (No. 455); mason, Daniel Townsend (Ne. 457): and

John F. Williams (No. 459). .
o




Because of Moore's restrictions the three houses, all completed

in 1855, are identical in design.  No. 455 1s .in better condition
than the other two. Its Anglo-Italianate facade is the original brown-
stone facing now spalling and considerably patched. The basement
facade is deeply rusticated with arched door and window openings.
Above a wilide brownstone belt course separating basement and parlor
floor are the two full-length wiqdows of the piano nobile All
windows in the house now have six-over-six sashes. The fact that
they arg square—headed and do not conform ro the segmental-arche

; e : P ' ©y arle replacefents. The
cornice in Icalianate sty]e with four large carved console brackets
and two horizontal panels of raised mouldings is original. A cornice
of this type also exists at No. 657 but has been removed from No.
459. The low brownstone _sroop has new iron railings. Nes. 457 and
459 are now undergoing renovation. It is hoped, that by using WNo.
455 as the model, they may be restored to correct appearance.

Nos. 661-465. On TFebruary 1, 1854, Morgan Pindar purchased from
Clement ClarkeMoore the lotswhere these three houses now stand, for
the sum of $6,000. In December 1854, Pindar sold all three lots "with
the buildings thereon” to David Seaman for $34,500. Thus, the three
matching houses were all built as one project during the year 1854,
The three houses are four-scovy brownstone buildings in the Anglo-

‘Tralianate stvle with low stoops and English basements having round-
arched door and window openings with rusticaced brownstone voussoirs.
A brownstene belt course at the level of the parlor floor separates
the rusticated basement facade from the three upper floors of ashlar
brownstone facing. No, 461 is the only one which still recains fully
moulded surrounds with sill brackets at all the segmental-arched win-
dows of the upper [loors. These brownstone enframements have been
removed at Nos. 463 and 465. The parlor floor windows of Mos. 461
and 463 are full length, while those av No. 465 have been shortened.
The rusticacion of the basement at No. 465 has been oblitervated by
stugco filling. All thiveé houses retain their oripinal cornices with
four carved cousclebrackets and two narrow horizontal pancls contain-.
ing raised foliate carvings. No ironwork of any kind has survived.

Nos. 467-471. These three brownstone buildings, were compleced
in 1854, all built as one praject for Jacob B. Tallman, a carpenter
who bought the lots from Clement ClarkeMoore on Fuabruary 21, 1854,
for $2,000 each. With only two minorv differences, these three houses
duplicate the ones previcusly described act Nos. 461-465. They are
slightly taller and the window openings of the upper floors are square-
headad instcead of being segmentally-arched. These windows.all had
lintels and sills of pressed meral but now about half of them are misg-
sing. The houses still retain their Ttalianate bracketed cornices.
Keystones in the form of acanthus~faced console brackets were placaed
above each basement door and window opening but several are now gone.

vos. n?jland 475, These lots uere'bOUth from Clemant Clarie Moore
by William 8. Dixen, an Insurance surveyor, on May 11, 1835. Dixon
builer the twin houses and s501d them bhoth within a year. Tha gontract
from Moore to Dixen sctated that they were to be "constructed wich
English basemencs of Brown cut stone, the balance of the frone vo be
of the best Philadelphla stvetchars (hricks) wich Brownsboos orimmings'

o
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The two houses were built accdrding to the requirement, having rus-
ticated brownstone basementswith voussclrs at the round-arched. door
and window openings, and above the basements, three flocrs of hard -
pressed red brick. No. 473 still retains somg pressed metal lintels
at the windows. These appear to have been later additions. It is
likely that the lintels were originally plain and unadorned pleces
of brownstone as at No. 475 and Nos. .487-491. This palr of houses
1s linked by a contindous Italianate istyle cornice with no division
between the buildings. The cornice has eight acanthus~-faced con-
svle brackeis and four lavge and thre; ;mall panels.

. . TR ) .

Nos., 477-491. Ac No. 477, there}begins a row of eight Anglo- -
Italianate-brick and brownstone "houses which were all builr alike as
one project in 1856 for Morgan Pxndar, the most active builder and
developer of the area at that time. Pindar'boughe che lots from Clement
Clarke Moore on July 16, 1855, paying 4 total of $14,800 for them.

He did very well on his investment, cdmpleting eight buildings and
selling them all by August 13, 1857 for a grand Eotal of $65,635.-
Pindar went on to buy more lots and erect more buildings. Later
that year a major financial panic occurred and many investors who
ware overextended were totally ruined. l Plndar's property and )
- effects were ordered to bé sold during, the depression following the
. panlc, in order to settle his debts. Moore's deed tb Pindar con-
tained all of his customary requlrements and covenants including
the eight~-foot front-court setback. Mqore went on in the deed to
say, that the buildings should be "constructed of brick or stone with
brown cut stone trimmings and brown cut stone fronts to the cellar
and basement stories,..not to be inferffor to the house now being
erected for William B. Dixcn on the sald northeastwardly side of

the said 22nd Street’ between Ninth and Tenth Avenues." (No. 473.)
. |

The eight houses, built to Moore’ 315pecifications, resulted in
a handsome row in which the monumentality of .the whole and the regular
repetition of the round arches of the basement, the long windows of
the piano nobile, and the console brackets of the cornice, gave the
impression of one immense building with'several ddelling units. This
effect is now diminished because of- the various changes aad alterations
- which have taken place to the individual houses and the fact that the
' houses are now palnted in dlfferent color schemes.

R _
‘ Nos, 477 is the first house of the,row. It 'is in Anglo-Italianate
style with a rusticated English basement having a door and a window
with round-arched . tops. The fence is goPe entiraly and the stoop
tailings are merely pieces of iron pipe.; Above che basement, the
windows of the piano nobile are floor length and they are the only
' ones in the wheole row which have not begh shortenad. The windows.
are topped by smooth~faced lintels of bréwnsgone. The upper floors
are faced with pressed brick now painted white. The vide Italianate
cornice with large console bracketrs.is ofiginal. ‘

' . | . -
No. 479 has been greatly alrared. Only the deep rusticasionsand
. the original ironwoerx {discussed below) ﬁemain to give anv ¢ive as
to 'the proper date of the building. The cornice is gone and the. upper .




three floors of brick have been surfaced with stucco, scored to re-
gamble blocks of aghlar gtone masonry. The windows have all been
shortened and now have double-hung sashes divided horizontally

into two-over~two panes.. The entrance and the basement window

have become square-headed by the infill of the criginal rtound
arches above them. The rustications of the brownstone basement
facade beneath the window and the panel remain, but the front door
1s a replacement of recent. date.The original ironwork survives,

No. 481 d1s verhaos che best preserved cf the row ard gives a
very good idea of the original appearance of each of cthe eight iouses.
The basement facade at No. 48l has been resurfaced with brownstone
aggregate stucco, and although the rustications and the voussoirs
have been carefully retained, the panel beneath the windeow and the
keystone with console brackets above the entrance (which may be seen
at No. 483) were not repraduced. A narrow belt course at the level
of the parler floor separates the brownstcne basement from the three
brick upper floors. The parlor windows, once'flpor lengch have been
shortened as have all parlor floor windows in all houses except No.
477. The windows at No. 481, except for those of the third floor,
are all correctly two-over-two. Pressed metal lintels added later
are all in place and the original bracketed and panelled Italianate
cornice remains intact. This identical cornice appears on seven cf
the houses but it has been removed at No. 479. The original inner
vestibule doors have long glass panels on the tops and moulded
wooden panels in the lower portions. The cuter doors of the houses
at Nos. 481-487 which appear as two-leaf doors with long panels of
glass may possibly be the original doors wich platre glass subsci-
tuted for the criginal wooden panels. No. 48l retains all of its
original Italianate cast-ivon fence and stoop railings which give a
proper aspect to the whole composicion. Strangely enough, the
original ironwork exists ar No. 479 - the most remodeled of the

Tow .

No, 483 is quite well preserved. Although somewhat rough and
spalling, the rusticated brownstone basement facade is original and
the panel beneath the window and a portion of the acanchus console

- keystone above the entrance still exist. The parlor floor windows

have been shortened and all windows except the round-arched window

in the basement now have six-over-six sashes and pressed-metal lintels.
The doorway is altered and the original ironwork i9 missing buc the
heavy Italianate bracketed cornice -is intact.

At No. 485 the upper floors are almost intact including the
original cornice and windows with two-over-two sashes and pressed
meral lintels. The parlor floor windows once f{loor length, have
been shortened. The bhasement facade has been
resurfaced and the rustications have been filled with stucco. The
arched door and window openiags survive, however, and the cast-iron
stoop ralilings are original, although the iron area fence is a much
later replacement. .

No. 487 survives in comparable condition to No. 485. The original
cornice Is in place above the three stories of brick, but the parlor
floor windows have been shortened. All windows have two-over-two

sashes. The basement Tacade has been resurfaced wish a usmonth coag of




stucco which has eliminated the rustications. The entrance within
1ts round-arched opening contains much of the original woodwork,
The heavy concrete railing at the Btoop and the wodern iron fence
are later additioms.

At No. 489, the basement has been résurfaced and the rustications
are gone, The entrance door is now'‘a single door with a wooden
panel in the bottom and three harizdntal panes of glass in the top.
The basement window contains a sash with numerous small panes of
glass and the windows of the upper- floors are now six-over-six.

The original cqrnice survives, but the iron stoop railings and the:
‘fence are replacements -

b

.....

No. 491, the last of the row has undergone several changes. The
three upper storiles of red brick, topped by the original cornice, are
now painted white. The parlor floor'windows, originally full length,
have been shortened, and all sashes are replacements which are double-
hung and divided horizontally into two panes over two. The basement
facade is smoothly resurfaced with stucco, resulthg in the loss of
the rusticat10n5 The basement wlndow lost its round-arch when a
square-headed window was inserted. The new ‘single entrance door
with two panels of wood seems awkward in the space intended for a
pair of doors. Omly the lunette transom of plate glass with the gold
leaf number 491 remains in its orlglnal position. The stoop has lost
its original cast-iron Italianate ralllngs to walls of concrete and
the iron fence is of recent date.

|
The grade of West' 22nd Street drops as it approaches Tenth Avenue so
that the stoop at No., 491 has seven steps while that at No. 477, the
beginping of the row, has only four, Thls is because the bullder
chose to maintain a long, level cornice line for the eight houses.
The alternative would have been to break the cornice line and to
drop the level of some of the houses ét the western end of the row.

No. 493. Morgan Pindar purchased this corner lot from Clement
ClarkeMoore on July 16, 1855 for the sum of $4,200. This was more
than twice the average price of the lots which only fronted on West
22nd Street.. He built an Anglo- Itallanate house on the lot which
was similar to those of the adjoinlng}row . In 1928, ¢his house was
demolished and, during the following year, a diner was constructed
on the site but facing onto Tenth Avenue instead of West 22nd Street.
This Art-Deco metal diner is still on the site and mow functions as

a restaurant. It is described under the address 210 Tenth Avenue,
i
f

West 23rd Street South Side Between Ninth and Tenth Avenues

This side of West 23rd Street forms a portion of the last block
of theChelses estate to be opened for development, (Rscussion under
West 22nd Street between Ninth and Tenth Avenues.) Like the houses
on the West 22nd Street porclon of thelblock the houses here were
built between 1854 and 1857 in the Italianate or Anglo-Tczlianate
styles, Two-thirds of the remaining: hduses on 23cd Stre=t, those
west - of No. 434, originally had hipgh stoops In the Iralianate style.
Their appearance is illustrated in a 1915 photograph reproduced on
page 147 of Charles Lockwood's Bricks and Brownstono (MNew York:




McGraw-Hill, 1972). All the stoops were removed in 1928-29 by order
of the City to enable the widening of 23rd Screet, but this plan was
never carried out. On rthis part of West 23rd Screet nearly half the
houses are 20 to 25 feet wide, and No. 448 is 27 feet wide. The
houses are four stories hizh and are set above basements chat are more
than half above ground level. While an eight-foot secback vas re-
quired in Moore's standard covenant for 22nd Street, none was speci-
fied for 23rd Streeg. However, the houses were built with setbacks
like those in the cther Chelsea blocks.

No. 426. Erected in 1856 in Italianate style for William Menzies,
a lumber dealer, this threa-bay brownstone dwelling originally had a
high stoop at the parlor floor entrance, The wide cornice with six
large console brackets is original., All decorative detail at the door
and windows was removed and the facade was repainted with pencilled
stone course lines during the 1979 renovation. The nevw six-over-six
sashes are inappropriate for the period of tHis;building.

Nos. 428-432 are three two-bay houses.all built for William B.
Smith in 1855, as one architectural project. These 16 foor - 8 inch
wide brownstone dwellings are in Anglo-Italianate style, and the stoops
rise only two steps above sidewalk level. The entire facade of the
first story is deeply ruscicared and is pierced by round-arched door
and window openings. A high stone water table runs across the facade
at the stoop level. The first floor windows have stone panels beneath
them. A belt course crosses the facade at the second story level. The
second floor parlor windows are full-lenggh with heavy stone lintels
with curving segmental-arched tops supported on console brackets. The
third floor windows are similar as are those of the fourth floor except
that they do not have any brackers.

One subtle difference marks No. 430 from its neighbors on eicher
side; for some reason, the windows of the thirvd floor are a bit longer
than the cthird floeor windows of the adjoining buildings. A continuous
Icalianate cornice unites all three buildings.

Nos. 434 and 436, were builc in 1854 for Edouard Bossange,a mer-
chant, who bought the lots for investment purposes from Clement Clarke
Moore in May, 1853, The two houses, which were identical when com-
pleced, were both sold in 1834; No. 434 to Edward Candee of Yonkers,
New York for $15,500 and No. 436 to Rebert H. Boyd, a hardware mer-
chant. These houses, with rusticated browastone basements with four
stories of brick above, are plainer than the other houses on this side
of the street. The window lintels are flat with moulded drip-caps.

The stoops and railings ar2 gone, but the original Italianace cornices
with brackets arnd panels are in place. These twe houses and No. 438
next door, are the only ones on the eatire block to have brick facades.

Yor rwenty vears (1909-1929) No. &36 served as headguarters of
the Slavonic Emigrant Sociecy founded to preomete che welfare ol

Slavonic inmigrants in the U.S.A.  The pous2 was a gific of HalenHarcley

Jenkins, a philanthropis: and welfare workey who established the Scheol
of Nursing acv Celumbia Universitcy.



_ ‘No. 438, ovne of the only three buildings on the block to have a
brick facade, was built in Italianate style in 1855 for Heary Ivison,
a publisher with a business address at. 178 Fulton Street. The rusti-
cated basement 43 of brownsteone. The high brownstone stoop has
been removed and the parlor floor entrance has beer altered to a win-
dow, the haunched window lintels of browpstons do not have brackees.
“he large Italianate cornice supporeed by six Jarc» console brackers

is original to che building.
|

From 1920 to 1933, No. 438 was leased to the Yolunteers of
Aactics vl operarad a home for eobiidren! aid A& nuruery and dax
centor tihere, as an adjunct to their nalr esteblistinens ar Toinwan-
ville, Staten Island. ; :
!
Mo, 440. Built in 1834 for Peter Morris, an iron founder, with

a place of business at 45 Duane Screet, Vo. 4&0 is a four-story and base-
ment brownstone house; Cthe -main entraQCe aleered to a windov. The
prejecting tintels and window enframements, Utlélqully like thuse at

No. 442, have been removed leaving only the sills. gnd the soall brack-
ets beneath them. The original cornice ﬁas $ix console brackets bhe-
tween which are lozenge-shaped panels decoracted with roscvites.

. f _ |

No, 442. Max Schwerin, a shirt merchant'at 69 William Streec, bought
the lot of No. 642 from Clement Clark.ﬂoore in 1853, paving q4 ,000.

He built the Italianate style house in }855 Schwerin, who lived

across the screet at 9 London Terrace, selems Lo have be&n a specula-
tor, for he later bought other lots on West 23rd Streer, and builr
single family dwellings which he seold as soon as they vere compleced.

No. .442 was sold in 1855 ro George Miln, a merchant, for $16,0300. The
facade of this building is in good condition although it has been com-
pletely covered with a thin cement wash'. The brownstone stoop has
been removed and the entrance lowered to the basement. Tihe parlor

floot lintels have been stripped of all d?corative detailing, but che
window lintels and surrounds of che upperithree floors are in place

The original Tralianate cornice which displayvs large and small brack-
ets as well as large and small panels, is:unusually elaborace.

Nos. 444 and 446, two .Italianate hOuées‘ vere idencical in design

‘when they were constructed in 1837. 1to. 444 was bailt For Max Schwerin
whe sold it to Moses P. Clark, a dealer iﬁ straw goods. No. 446 was

built for Edwin A. Brooks, a dealer- 1mporter and manufacturer of
_bocts, shoes, and gaiters. The two- houses have [ovr storv plus basement
facades of brownstone, The entrances through the basemencs have narrow:
entablatures supported by plain pilastersl These simple enframements
are probably the originals which were left exposed when the high brown-
stone stogops were removed in '1928-29., At |that time the former entrances
were altered to windows so thar each parlor floor has three floor-
length windows. All lintels above the segmental-arched window open-
ings of both houses appear as flat arched bands with "lobes” at the
sides. This is bacause of the removal of thc rneuldings and bracke

which originally faced the lintels. The SPaJ brackets beneath the
window $ills remain on both houses. Ths ritcntng original cornices

of Italianate desizn have matched pairs off laryge and small brachkerns.

R - R
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No. 448. Of all of the houses 1n the row, this i1s the one which
comes closest to being in original condition. Is has suffered the loss
of the stoop but no other alteratlons have been made and the elaborate,
carved brownstone enframement of the parlor floor entrance with acan-
thus—-carved console brackets supporting a segmental-arched pediment
which is faced with carved vines on either side of a large shell, re-
mains in perfect condition. The original handsomely carved and pan-
elled doors exist and the erection of an iron railinz across the
truncated stoop platform has resulted in a grand opeaning onto a small

hslcony.

All windows have segmental-arched tops and the brownstone lintels,
sills, sill brackets, and surrounds are all intact. The original
iron window guards protect the basement windows. The two-over-two
sashes with wide muntins were intended to resemble casements and
thus further the resemblance to a true Italian palazzo. Most of the
23rd Street houses had cast-iron balconies at the parlor fleor level
and the band course crossing the facade beneath the parlor floor
windows marks that location. The house is slightly taller than its
neighbors and its elaborate Italianate bracketed cornice makes a
break in the otherwise continuous cornice line. This house was erec-
ted in 1856 for Max Schwerin who bought the lot from Clement Clarke
Moore in 1854. Schwerin sold the house and lot to Naftali K. Rosen-

feld and his wife Ida in 1860.

Nos. 450-452. These two houses were built together in 1856 for
Max Schwerin who sold them both as soon as they were completed. They
both retain original features but No. 452 is best preserved. When the
stoop was removed from No. 450, the entrance and enframement were re-
moved too, and the third floor-length window was created. At No. 452,
more imagination was shown. The basement entrance was heightened to
above the first floor level to give it more importance, while the
original parlor floor entrance, somewhat shortened, became a large and
imposing window sill topped by the elaborate brownstone lintel of the

original entrance.

No. 452 retains the deep rustications of its brownstone basement,
while those at No. 450 have been obliterated; probably filled in when
the stoop was removed. The lintels are all flat with unusually heavy
moulded drip-caps. The parlor floor windows, now with one-over-one
sash, were originally casements leading to cast"igqn balconies, and
the sashes of the upper floor windows were two-over-four with wide
center muntins. Some of these still remain. The matching cornices
with paired brackets separated by oblong panels are original. The
cornice at No. 452 is complete in every detail, while that at No. 450
has lost the rounded tabs at the bottom of the bracrets.

The poet, Edwin Arlington Robinson, occupied z furnished roonm
in the rear of the fourth floor of No. 450 from 1901 vntil 1906,
From 1943 to 1949, thé basement and the first and secend flears of
No. 452, housed the Chelsza School. The buillding was converted to

apartments in 1949,




}

Nos, 4534-470. ‘the remalning nine houses In-the row were all
identical when completed in 1857. They were bullt by or for Morgan
Pindar who was a butilder and deyeloper of some Llmportance in the
Chelsea area in the mid~19ch century. Fortunately for Pindar, he
8old all nine of the houses in 1856, for In August of that year a
financlal panic of major proportioas shook the nation and things
continued to get worse for some time before the economy recovered,
Pindar barely escaped from total ruin and in 1858, was forced to
sell his propercty and effects to satisfy his creditors.,

0f thz nine houses in tha row, Nos. 46% and 464 retain che
greatest amounts of original architectural decails. A full length
photograph of No.462 taken in 1915 and mentioned in the block
introduction, shows the houses before altervacion with the stoops,
the bhalconies, che area and stoop railings, che newels, and fwo-

over-twn windows, os well as-the inner vescibole doors wich plass
panals.  Fven the cascoents and (he Toovered exterior hlinds of
the parlor-floor windows wore still in place: Alf the houses in
the row would have looked much the same.  No. 4%4 has four-stoevies

plus basement, now painted. The basement is.deeply rusticated and

the window openings which are original contanin the original two-

over-two sashes and iron window guards. The stoop has been removed

and the former parlor floor encrance was converced to a floer length .
window. All windows of the upper floors have the ociginal brownstone
surrounds, lintels, sills, and sill brackets, although che sashes are

now onec-over-one instead of two-over-two. The cornice is eriginal

and intact, : :

From 1915 to 1955, No. 454 was the headquarters in the city
for the Five Poincs House of Indusctry. In 1909, prior to the
purchase of No. 454, the Agency established an office at 442 West
23rd Street. By that time, the chief function performed was the
placement of orphans and children from broken homes. The Five
Points House of Indusctry was the outgrowth of a mission ¢stablished
in 1850 at Five Points, the poorest and most crime-ridden area of the
Lower East Side. Ics purpese was to teach "useful trades” to desti-
tute young people who had te support themselves,

At. No. 436, the rusticated basewment remains, hut the tvo win-
Jows have had rather inconprous shutters added .whicle are tov nacrow
awd a0 nall for tne vpenings. The dron window spshes reploce the
wriginal two-over-two sashes.  Alrv condivicacr wWH s have been in-
stalled beneath the ceater windows of the second, third, and fourch
floors. The cornice 1s original and repeats the design of that ag
No. 6534 next door. In 1929, No. 456 was purchased by Chrvetie Street
House, a settlement house with an office at 30 Aroad Sercer. The
house served as a home for boys. The Chrystie Streer touse eventually
merged with the Travelers Aid Society of Kew York and rha house was
sold in 1951,

Nos. 458 and 460 have been altered. The basement facades no
longer show any rusticetion but are smonthly stugcoed vver, The
stoops and parlov fleoor entrances have been removed and the parlor
floor windows have all been shortened. Those ac o, 438 anpear
to have been shorcened twlee since three silly complers with sl
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brackets exist which are somewhat lower than the sills of the exist-~

ing windows. . The sills and sill brackets remain at the other windows
but all brewnstone lintels and surrounds have been removed. The six-
over-six sashes with flatc tops are replacements that do not conform

' to the segmental-arched openings. The tops of the parlor floor win-

dew openings have been squared off anddecorative, non-functioning
shutters adorn these windows. The lower half of the cornice at No.
458 is missing entirely while that at No. &60, has lost two bracket
tabs. Each house has five through-the-wall air-conditioner units;
one ou each flsor. In 1837, Charles H.:Mount bought Wo. 458 from
the builder Morgan Pindar, "with tihe Bréwn Stone tuilding theraon,"”
for $16,000.

Nos. 462 and 464 both recain significant amouats of original
brownstone fabric. WNo. 462 is the subject of the 1915 photograph
mentioned above. 1ts rusticated basement facade survives as do the
sashes of the basement windows and the original iren window guards,
When the stoop was removed, the elaborate cut brownstone enframe-
ment was also removed although the arched-top mouldings and the
keystone of the narrow inner surround were left, and the entrance
was converted to a window. The casements at the parlor-floor win-
dows have been altered and now contian many small panes of glass.
An overly wide iron railing has been placed across each of the
three parlor floor openings. The windows of the second third and
fourth floors still have all of the detdiling of their brownstone
surrounds. The sashes, now one-over-oneg were shown to be two-over-
two in the 1915 photograph. The Italianate cornices of both houses
are original and in good condition.

No. 464 has been altered in a different manner. Lts basement
facade is smooth, having had the rustications filled in. The
basement windows are now square headed. : When the stoop was removed,
the complete brownstone entrance enframement was allowed to remain
while the opening was converted to a round-avched window. The
parlor floecr windows have been shortened: and the molded brownstone
lintels and surrounds have been shaved tc a flat surface although

‘the sills and sill brackets rvemain. The sashes are two-over-two

but are not original since they are square-headed and do not conform -

" to the segmental-arched tops of the window openings. The elaborate

Italianate cornice, exactly like its neighbors, remains in good
condition. ‘ [ "
. .

The facade of No. 466 has been almost totally altered. The only
remaining original feature is the cornicé. The entire front of the
building has been resurfaced with a brownstone aggregate stucco
scored to regsemble large blocks of brownstone. The parlor floor
entrance and tha stoop have been removed and the entrance, now through
the basement, has a new stucco surround with a molded architrave.
The belt course at the parlor floor level is gone, having been cut
off just to the right of the lintel of the basewent antrance. The
two original basement windows have been replaced by a pair of square-
headed four—over-four windows sepavated by a heavy woodan [rame.

The parlor floor now has three identical wirndows, The one at the
left was formerly the entrance and the other two have been shurtened.
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All of the brownstone detailing of the window surrounds has been
eliminated. The sashes are all six-over-six and . are inappropriate
replacements of the original two-over-two sashes. The cornice has
lost its westernmost brackets. Six air-conditioner units pierce
the brownstone facade; one in the basement, one beneath the parlor
floor center window and two each on the second and third floors.

Nos. 468 and 470 were one-family browmstone dwellings when
built in 1857 and were of the same Iralianate design ag Nos.
454-466. They have béen greatly altered and do not bear. much
resemblance to the very grand Italianate style houses which they
once were. No. 468 retains its original bracketed cornice and
some original window sashes. The cornice is gone from No. 470 and
both have lost their stoops and parlor-fleor entrances; the
ground floors of both buildings have been altered for commercial
use. In 1885, the heirs of Clement C. Moore agreed to allow the
owner of No. 470 a release of coVvenant in order to convert the
house into '"what is krown as an apartment house or French Flats.,"
~The fact that the Chelsea Hotel, a large building of French Flats

at 222 West 23rd Street, had been completed in 1884 may have promp-
ted the conversion at No. 470, which became known as the Adelphi
Hotel. 1In 1927, alterations were made to MNo. 468 and both buildings
were combined for use as a hotel for transients:. At that time, it
was necessary to extend the existing long fire escape on every floor,
No., 468 has its original brownstone facade with many stucce patches,
All detailing has been removed from the window openings. The ground
Eloor now houses a pub with a psuedo hali-timber facade intended to
resemble an “olde English cottage." No. 470 was completely renova-
ted during 1978-79. The facade was resurlaced with stucco and ‘
painted Qark brown. All detailing. had previously been vemoved. The
new sashes, all six-over-six with square heads in the segmental-
arched window openings, are inappropriate for the style and peried
of the building. Instead of its original cornice, the facade of No.
470 terminates in a high blank parapec, an unsatisfactory effect

for a corner building. The side on Tenth Avenue is brick and is
also painted dark brown. The entive ground floor on both 23rd Street
and Tenth Avenue is now surfaced with horizontal matched=boarding
stained a dark color, and a sidevalk cafe fronting on both streets
" has been added to the building.

MENTH AVENUE East Side Bétrween West 21st and West 22nd Streets

Until 1848, all lots on this blockfront were conveyed as a
single parcel, Leginning with a sale by Moore to Thomas Barclay
prior to 1834 (there.is no recovd of this sale). 1In 1834, they
were conveyed by Susan Bavclav, his widow,te James L. Curtis and
his wife Clarissa; by Curtis ro Peter B, Uyckoff and his wife Mary;
by UWyckoff to James N. Vells; and by Wells to Henry Ceggill, his

wvife Aon, and his son, George. Titls last coaveyance was subject to
a wmortgage held by Hells. ‘ithe Coxgills, Heury and Cenrvge, had in-
vested in several parcels dn the Chalsen aren as cavly as 1835 (as

shown on Moore's pap of chat date).,  The Cogpills, facher and son,
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were wool merchants with a warehouse at 290 Pearl Street and an office
at 42 Broadway. They were active members of St. Peter's Church,
Coggill served as a vestryman from 1833 to 1837. George Coggill was
a vestryman from 1840 to 1845 and a churchwarden £rom 1845 to 1848.
By 1838, the Ceggills had apparently)overextended their commitments.
In December of that year, they were so far in arrears on interest

. and principal that Wells reposessedithe-lOCS-

James Nicholas Wells, Sr.,'like;Henry Coggill, was one of the
founding members of St. Peter’s Church. He had been a carpenter
and manager of the Moore estate. He became one of its chief devel-
opars and real estate brokers. The firm he established, which
managed properties for Moore and his heirs, was carried on by his

son, James N. Wells, Jr. and is Stlll in bu51ness as Wells and Gay
on 23rd Street.

Weils held this property until 1848 when he sold No. 180, the
lot on the northeast corner of Ninth Avenue and 21st Street, to
George 'Clark. This building is in the orlglnal Chelsea Historic
District ‘and has been described in, the Deslgnatlcn Report of 1970

In 1852, Wells sold the lots at Nos. 182" and 184 to Victor M.
Osborn, a machinist, and his wife, Joanna K., and No. 186 to Duncan S
Fowler, a boot and shoe'dealer; and his wife' Cathexine, The Osborns
Jbuilt two houses in 1853-54 and the Fowlers built the same year.

No. 180 Ninth Avenue, a four story brick building of 1848 with
commercial establishments on the flrst floor and dwellings above,
is a part of the Chelsea lNistoric Dlstrlct which was designated

September ‘15, 197Q, and is described in the designation report of
that date. ' L !

No. 182 and 184, Victor M. Osborﬁ built these two houses in
1853-54 and he and his wife, Joanna, so6ld both the lots and the
nev buildings in 1854 to Edgar M. Brown, a merchant, for $24,000.
These two brownstone buildings were bullc with stores at street
level and three floors of dwellings abovc, and they serve the same
purposes today, although the existing shopfronts with their large
plate glass windows are not original. Both browastone facades
have been resurfaced; tio. 182 done verﬂ crudely with cement and
No. 184 quite smoothly with brownstone aggregate stucco. No. 182
has square-headed one-over-one sashes inserted in the segmental-
arched window openings. At No. 184, the replacement sashes are
six—over-six and the masonry window openings wevre converted to
square heads when the facade was resurfaced. DNo. 182 has lost its
cornice, but the original wide Italianate wooden cornice supported
by four carved acanthus-faced console brackets exists at No. 184,

No. 186. 1In 1852, Duncan §. Towler, a boot and shoe dealer,
and his vife, Catherine, bought the 1ot at 186 Ninth Avenue and
built the building now standing there. The four-story brownstona -
building was commevcial on the ground ﬁlooL and Tesidential on the
three upper {loors. This use hag pore JHlCu to the present davy,

Henry"



The present shopfront of plate—-glass and ribbed aluminum is of
recent date as is the doorway te¢ the upper floors. The brown-
stone stucco is scored to recsemble ashlar stone masonry. The
windows have six-over-six sashes in square~headed openings which
may have baen alrered from segmental-arched tops when the facade
was resurfaced. The original cornice which duplicates the one
next door at Mo. 184, is intact. TFowler and his wife owned the
building until 1864 when they sold it to Peter and Bridget Reilly.

No. 188-196. London Towne House. Since the ground floor
space of the London Towne llouse Building on Ninth: Avenue is all -
commercial, a full description is given under 360 West 22nd Street,
the entrance to the apartménts. .

NINTH AVENUE East Side between Vest 22nd and West 23rd St:eeté

These lots were were acquired from Clement ClarkeMoore by George
Coggill in 1835, At the same time, Henry Coggill acquired the
four lots between mid-block and West 23rd Street (not included in
the Extension). When the Cogpills were unable to keep up their
payments on their mortgages, Moore took back all but one lot (No.
204) which he conveyed to CGeorge Copgill in consideration of

money already paid on the mortgage. Coggill built a house on this
lot in 1841, but the rest of the lots remained vacant until the
early 1850s. .

No. 198. 1In 1851, Clement C. Moore leased the corner lot at
No. 198 to Durrant Burnett, a plumber, with the understanding that
Burnett would build a three-story house which would include accomo-
dations for his plumbing business. The same year, Burnett erected
the fouv-story-brick building we see today. ' -

No vestige remains of the original shopfront. The existing
plate glass and aluminum one is a vecent replacement. Otherwise,
the rest of the building vetains its basically vernacular late
Greek Revival appearance. The windows have a variety of different
types of sashes although some ave still siv-over-six. The build-
ing is three bays in width on Ninth Avenue and has five bays on
West 22nd Street, although two of these bays contain only blind
windows. All wiudows have siwmple pressed metal lintels which were
added later -- a favorite method of concealing spalling brownstone
lintels in the last half of the 19%th centuvy. The cornice with ics
wide modillions is in the late Creck Revival tradicion Duilt at the
rear of the lot at 367 West 22nd Street is o small one=-stovy build-
ing measuring 12 feet square. This little structure was built
separately from No. 198, and in 1889, James Condie, proprietor of
the drugstore at No. 198 Ninth ‘Avenue (and resident of 3063 West 22nd
Street) applied to the Buildings Department for permission to join
it to the front building. 1In this application, Condie described
the rear building as eccupied by a plumber's store. Tt is possible
that the small building was vetained by Dovrant Buvnett after he had
removed Nhis plumbing busineas Trom the Front butlding,

Mo, 200, was bulldt 4o JREST o Leonncd B Parber. T ods an
Ital:i?n-zﬂ{gl-f: -;‘»'.ll_\"l o Five-story browngoone building with coomarcial
space on tha grovnd {leor.  The axistioy alusious and plave plass
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The present shopfront of plate-glass and ribbed aluminum is of
recent date as is the doorway to the upper floors. The brown-
stone stucco is scored to resemble ashlar stone masonry. The
windows have six-over-six sashes in square-headed openings which
may have been altered from segmental-arched tops when the facade
was resurfaced. The original cornice which duplicates the one
next door at No. 184, is intact. Fowler and his wife owned the
building until 1864 when they sold it to Peter and Bridget Reilly.

No. 188-196. London Towne House. Since the ground floor
space of the London Towme House Building on Ninth Avenue is all
commercial, a full description is given under 360 West 22nd Street,
the entrance to the apartments.

NINTH AVENUE East Side between West 22nd and West 23rd Streets

These lots were were acquired from Clement ClarkeMoore by George
Coggill in 1835, At the same time, Henry Coggill acquired the
four lots between mid-block and West 23rd Street (not included in
the Extension). When the Coggills were unable to keep up their
payments on their mortgages, Moore took back all but one lot (No.
204) which he conveyed to George Coggill in consideration of
money already paid on the mortgage. Coggill built a house on this
lot in 1841, but the rest of the lots remained vacant until the
early 1850s.

No. 198. 1In 1851, Clement C. Moore leased the corner lot at
No. 198 to Durrant Burnett, a plumber, with the understanding that
Burnett would build a three-story house which would include accomo-
dations for his plumbing business. The same year, Burnett erected
the four-story brick building we see today.

No vestige remains of the original shopfront. The existing
plate glass and aluminum one is a recent replacement. Otherwise,
the rest of the building retains its basically vernacular late
Greek Revival appearance., The windows have a variety of different
types of sashes although some are still six-over-six. The build-
ing is three bays in width on Ninth Avenue and has five bays on
West 22nd Street, although two of these bays contain only blind
windows. All windows have simple pressed metal lintels which were
added later -- a favorite method of concealing spalling brownstone
lintels in the last half of the 19th century. The cornice with its
wide modillions is in the late CGreek Revival tradition Built at the
rear of the lot at 367 Vest 22nd Street is a small onec-story build-
ing measuring 12 feet square. This little structure was built
separately from No. 198, and in 1889, James Condie, proprietor of
the drugstore at No. 198 Ninth Avenue (and resident of 363 West 22nd
Street) applied to the Buildings Department for permission to join
it to the front building. In this application, Condie described

the rear building as occcupied by a plumber's store. Tt is possible
that the small building was retained by Durvrant Durnoett after he had
removed his plusbing busivess frop Ll Tront bud Tdine,
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storefront has completely obliterated the original design. The
brownstone facade has been resurfaced and scored to resemble

stone blocks, and is now painted white. The window openings

have segmental arches but the existing sashes —- all squared-head-
ed -- are rcplacements, The Italianate cornice is metal with two
sets of central paired acanthus-faced brackets and three oblong
and three square panels. Iron fire-escape balconies and stairs
appear at each floor.

No.. 202. In 1860, this five-story brownstone building
was built for Charles A. Mount. This building is much like its
neighbor at No. 200. However, greater height at each story has
made it a taller building. 1It, too, has lost the original shop-
front and has been resurfaced and painted white, The two-over-
two sashes of the windows are correct in style even if they are
not original. The metal yoof cornice is original and is rather
unusual in that the eight console brackets are evenly spaced, and
are separated by seven square panels. Iron fire-escapes span
the full width of the building at the three upper floors.

No. 204. The original structure at No. 204 was a three-story
building built by Ceorge Cogzgill in 1841. It probably looked much
like No. 198 and was in the vernacular Greek Revival style of the
time, no doubt, with a shop on the ground floor. In. 1885, three
more stories were added and the biiilding metamorphosed into a
six-story building with window detailing and roof cornice typical
of the 1880s. As a result, the assessment rose from 510,000 to
$16,500 in 1836. The facade is of red brick and the windows have
stone sills and lintels. Crossing each pier at a level just below
the lintel is a stone band repeating the configuration of the lin-
tel. There are iron fire escapes at cach floor. The windows are
correctly one-over-ones, in vogue in 1885. The heavy cornice is
supported by five large evenly-spaced console brackets with pat-
terned panels between them. The shopfront has undergone altera-
tion but the entrance to the upper floors appears to be the origi-
nal type: a single dvor with two sidelights and a transom above.

Nos. ?06_ and 208 - Ninth Avenue are outside the district.

Tenth Avenue Last Side Petween West 22nd and West 23rd Streets

No, 210 was built on the site of a demolished brounstone
househa_t-'_(.—g:_?, West 22nd Strect. An aluminmn Avt-Deco dincr built
in 1929-30, it is typical of its era both in design and function,
Diners had enly recently cevolved from the ecarlier lunch-vagons.
The originals of these were actually long, narrvew horse-—drawn wag-
ons (often formor omnibuses) which had a counter and a few stools
and made vesulay stops at cortaln streel corners and olhoer appoint-
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last word -- modern, up-to-date, and stylish. They brought ecat-
ing-out to the middle classes, for the earlier lunch-wagons and
lunchrooms had catered chiefly to working men. It is interest~
ing to note that while being "modern,"
to the fancy aluminum coaches of the crack passenger trains of
the time. These diners wevre responsible for a unique type of
construction business which flourished for a quarter of a cen-
tury. A few specialized plants across the country manufactured .
the component parts for the diners which were then trvansported:
to the site and asSembled on the spot thus making them a form.-
of pré-fabricated building. WNo. 210 is a well-preserved example
of a 1930s Art-Deco "streamlined" diner. ‘

The exterior is done in shiny .aluminum with panels and
strips enamelled in white and black. Below the large plate
glass windows, the facade consists of horizontal panels of
white enamelled metal with a band of black at the top. At the
bottom, a2 wide aluminum water-table strip’'is above a founda-
tion of oversize yellow bricks in soldier coirse. Above the
window a very wide aluminum fascia with narrow horizontal
stripes of aluminum, black, and white stretches the full
length of the diner, extending around the corner onto the 22nd
Street side. Above the corner is a recently added small-scale
replica of the Empire State Building, employed as a logo, since..
the diner is known as the "Empire Diner.'" The doors are of
aluminum with long oval panels of plate .glass.

No. 212. This two-story briclk taxpayer adjoining the
Empire Dincv is built on the rear of the lot formerly occupied
Ly the vowhouse which stood at 49] HWest 22nd Street. It vas
erected in 1930 for GC.H. Keher and designed by the architect,
Mott B. Schmidi. Originally, there were two shops at street
level and an apartment on the seccond fleoxr.  The twe eoriginal
shops ramain on Tenth Avenue aleng with the entrance to the
second floor where sSiX evenly-spaced windows picrce the facade.
Today, the building is used as an annex for the Y¥mpire Diner.

It houses the kitchen, a diaing room, and offices. ‘the design
of the building is extremely modest. The only decoration is a
band of brick dentils at the base of the brick parapet. Al-
though desigred by a noted architect, this building is decidedly
vernacular in style and appearance,
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FINDINGS AND DESIGNATIONS

On the basis of a careful consideration of the histery, the arch-

'itecture and other features of this'area, the Landmarks Preservatioen

Commission finds that the Chelsea Historic District Extension contains
buildings and other improvements which have a special character and
special historical and aesthetic interest and value which repi:esent
one .or wore periods or styles of archxtecture tprcal of one of mdre
eras in the history of New York Clty and which cadse this area, by
reason of these factor‘;, to constltute a distinet secrion of the C:Lty

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities,
the Chelsea Historic District Extention was an integral part of the
community planned and developed by Clement Clark'e Moore on his river—
side estate, "Chelsea;" that these blocks have similar historical asso-
ciations and a similar architectural 'character to those within the ex-
isting historic district; that many of the residential buildings were
built according to similar structural plans and:aestehtic standards for
the same builder-developers who developed other blocks in the Chelsea
area; that these houses were constructed under the control of the same
type of covenants and agreements through which Moore seught and achieved
a harmonious wmiformity of building dimensions, materials, and quality
of contruction;-that all but a few of the original buildings in the -

‘Extension area were constructed between 1835 and 1857; that the predomi-

nant architectural styles in the Extensioc are Creek Revival, Ttalianate,
and Anglo-Italianate; and that the relation of these buildings to each |
other and to the streetscape has created vithin the Chelsea Nistoric Dis-
trict Extension a strong feelinp of archlLectural coherence and a '
sase of place.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 21 (formerly Chap-
ter 63) of the Charter of the City of New York ard Chaypter 8-A of the’
Administrative Code of the City of New York, the Landmarks Preservation
Commission designates as an liistoric NDistrict the Chelsea Historic Distria
Extension, lorough of Manhattan, containing the property bounded by Ninth
Avenue, West 22nd Street, the eastern curb line of Taith Aveue, the South
em curb line of West 23rd Street, the eastem property line of 626 West

23rd Street, the northern property lines of 401-433 West 22nd Street, Ninth

Avenue, the northern property line of 204 Ninth Avenue, the northermn pro-
perty lines of 315-361 West 22nd Street, the northem and ecastem property
lines of 305-3)1 West 22nd Stveet, the northern curb line of West 22nd

._Stréet, West 22nd Street, the castem and the southern property lines of

310 West 22nd Street, the southern property lines of 312-350 West 22nd

‘Street, part of the southem propety line of 352-364 West 22ad Street,

the castern .and part of the southem property lines of 186 Ninth Avenue, -
the eastem propaty line of 184 Ninth Avenue and the east e and the
southem preperty lines of 182 Ninth Avenue; Manhatton.
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